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MAIrf 

duly sworn, testified. as 

DIREET EXAMIIIATION BY MR. igT 

answer questions. 

.q 4111 you try and. talk so that eveiy one 

gentlemen here an hear you?_ A Yes, 

A They want to hear your storyw Look ri 

Row old are you? 

Are you 12 now or 

How old, were you on Christmas day last? 

.When is your birthday? January 13th. 

4

 

The 13th? 4 'Yes sir 

You were 15 January 15th 1912? A Yeas 

You know Rosie Rottenberg don, t you7,. 

.Q Axid Bella Rottenberg? - A 

They-ae little triends 0:C yours? 

.q Down here today? A Vat 44,47% 

Mere ad you say you lived? A 127 Eas t 102nd : 



to_ 0.09scqt. A Yes, 

Do you know. that  Man (pirlinting to the defendant)?: 

Did' you see Blandoli on Marie tmas. day? 

Where ' -1911? . A Yes 

Where did you see him? A In the house 

Q Do you remember what the number of the defendant' 

house was? k Yes) sir. 

Q That is the numb A 54 East .104th•street'.• 
_ 

4, Did you go there alone O-r some person along. With 

Rosie Rottenberg went with Jme and. :I:fell/x.1 

Q So that ROsei end 13e11a and. you .all went over toge 

A Yes) sin, 

Q Is that right? - A Tee. sir* 

Q, Was that the first time you had -been there 

oi sir. 

Q, YOu had been there before) had you?' 

Q, How long. had. you known this man? 

%.. About? A I know him Evince last january* 

-ct You had known him 'a year before you want there? 

Yes'. ix'. 

your own way, 



411 

. 1. 

tell hiss Honor the and, these gentlemen Juat t 

happened in that room Chris tmas day.,. Whati-di d this ,man 

this defendant 'right here do? 

THE COURT.: Or at tny time- priors.. 

That. did he do to you (Ch.riatilas, day? We Went 
, - 

n to him ln the morning; lie wasnt t then he wags home. 

Q, Who went? A pellet and Rosie and ine. 

Q, Christmas morning? A Yes, sir. 

Q, .You went. back in  tile afternoon?' . . Yes,aLj 

wa,s home; the ..janitor said_ he would be home about 4 ot clock. 

me. 

Q. So at 4, ololock b.e•was home in his room? A ',Yes* 

Q You, 9,.nd Rosie were together? A Yeso 

Q what Aid be tell you When you came in? A He kissed 

id he kiss you/ A Yes, 

And; Bella? A Yes air. 

Q And Rosie? A Yes, eire 

And, what did.. be do then? A He then a ked Rosie 

lay_ on th.d 

Q,. Don't feel afraid. He said that right to you? 

A Yes, air • 

•Object a t objection overruled; exception. 

Q, Did Rose iay onthe bed? A Yes sir. 
•; ' 

Q What •did. you see Jie defendant do, what did. this  

man do? to  off his 'trousers. Then Bella took 
• . . 

o her •drawero and ito layed on tcp or her. 

IOU 

„ 



was: thaBeUa? A Yes, ir; 

Q Did. you see what he did:1,1/141A on top of bee 
A Yes,, , 

p and down? A 

I laid. on the bed .and he laid on top of me when he laid down.-

What about your clothes? A I took my drawers off 

and he took his trousers -0-ft* 

riL trouser s were off? A Tee, sir 

Q What clothes did you have 

BY 'THE COURT: 

Q, Did. you. have a cloak on?' A Yes, sir. 

on? •(go answer) 

• d you take 7tha.t „off? A Yes, sir; 

off imy coat; I lifted up my dress and. took off my 

BY Mit; STRIKER: 

Q You were on the bed? A rest sir. 

With your dreww up? A Yes, sir* 

Q, What did. the defendant do after -he laidcrn 

.Q At that time were nis pr vate 

out? A Yes sir. 

Q His • thing was out? 

hat did te• d •• 



Thereaboute between your ]ea ay pLrt 

priiito.paz't? A Yes,' sirs 

Put it on your ,prprate ?arta 

tween r4y lags  

Did he ut it n.rottri,rjyata parts that 

-fr% 

Chris tines? ea-.* 

Moved up and d.oWn whei he wü there? 

BY ZEIE COUBT1 

Q Did. you feel it 

BY MR* STRIK211: . 

gow was that the first time 17.e. had 

you, been there beforeo 

air, but he didm. t  láyon top of me. 

What did. he do 7p0 vott before that? 

stated" in the indiottL6n t are admissible • 

did you use to go 

s froth. January ,dovia to Ci4ristmas did 

Le defendant I a room? A Yes 

did ually go tier? 



Did you usually go -lions or did you go with 

A 3.; wimp alone ssometimetf* 

SOme*.bimea? • A - Sometimes,., yap 

Q, Who did you- raetimes go with? A With Rose 

sometimes. with Bella 

• Q, I suppose You mean Rose and Bella Rottenberg?-

Yes sir. 

0, that did he 1108 to give you? Money* 

How tuob money did -he give to  you? ,A 50:. pants 

Did he use. *to give you •80 cents every Sunday you 

•A. Yes* sir. 

. 9, Did you see him give Rose anythingvany time 

tt What did. he use .to give Rose?  *A .',410 uSe.d to giv 

her a quarter. 

Q Now on the other time 

asking now, you inlow) the Sundays at you went. 'the 

fore ChristraaS* A Tea 
A You understand* 

, • 
Q., PA :those times when ou pay he used to give 



,dent$ when you went there each, time what did, he Use to de: 

*40 you „then? ,A•He used. to take me on his lap and. play, 

with me.. 

Q, now Would. 'he play...with you Put his hands -

into my drawers. 

Q. Pell your bare le 

Put his hands On your private parts? 

Did you ever lie down 'before ahrietmae day when he 

What- dka you use to do? A Sit 'on 4 chair. 
( 

After that did he over use to do-anythlng to 

1)eX'ors Christmas you used to lie on the 1:10.1 

Did you see him do it with Bose when you were 

TEE COURT:- Never -mind Vaatit 

q Who introduCed you to laandoll? A Rose Rotten:berg: 

Role introduced you to  him? A Yes, 

Q, What did 74andoli say to you When Ease introduced, you 

to him? A Be didn't say anything; he only said oballal 

and gave ma 5 oents. 

Q To his place? 

Q, To kia room? A Yesb- sir. 

g. Nov after this you were .examined b 



A Yes, Earl); 

Weren't yv ? A Yea, sir.  

BY. TEE COURT': 
44 On this Christmas day he laid on you. You, have 

not told U3 what he did to yet).* You said he only put his 

penis between your legs* Is 'that all he did? k That 

all. 

Didntt he put his. Penis int6 your:  private 

.11e put it in on Monday, Oh.ristmas* 

Q' Chri.s tmas day? A Y r 

He put it into you did you ,feel 

n you? A Yes* •sir. 

Then he lay on you -and MoVeri. .0 and. dOwn y 

A Yes* sir*. 

You are vita sure you f el t penis 

a parts? A Yes, 1.37i, 

BY MR; .STRaMli, 

Nowl maxy, did you ever spend, 

.place? A Yea) Sir 

Q ROW long was that befgre Qhr 

weeks.'befors. 

q Who spent. the uiht in B1 

A ROsie Rottenbergo• 

bed. 

Where did you sleep that .night? 

nigh, ilia 

parts? 

Yes sir.* 

u say? 

your priv,. 

tome? A About four 

de  room, with you? 

A Slept in. the 

Q Where did Blandoli loop? A lie slept on: thil 

CCUCh. 

Rim 

4 

in 



Was 114 on the bed. at anrtim0 

tz Not that night? A N0, air 

to4 were in hia room all night?, A Yea,gar. 

Q What iid he say to you that night? 

in question when she spent the night: 1 am asking for 

the conversation. , 

1r! COURT: Any, trans as ti ono between the defendant 

and this complainant prior to the date Charged in the 

indictment and on the date charged in the indictment 

will allow. 

MR. =LIM -I 'take an exCep ti on. 

THE COURT: He is not On  trial for anything he 

did except on the date stated in the indictment but it 

is proper to show the relations between the defendant, 

sod this complainant prior to' that time That to all., 

it is one of the .circumstances, to be Optsidered by the 

jury ° in determining whether or not the evidence showa 

him guilty of the crime charged in the iridistMont., 

That is the only crime he is here for but all their prio 

dealings and relations may be shown tO the jury to put 

them in possession of all the 



%ha t 131a,ndOIi u that night that 

the 1it .With him .bel'ors ;Christmas? 

2-11.0mber his talking to you at 'all? A lie was •:saying... 

Q, •ii.th4t TALE he Eistiirg? A lie wanted to do it to 

again and lee wouldn t 1,st 

(4,  What. did he -sa .asked us to lib up our 

th,eil•4.nd NO Bad. 

A Well he was ma 

waf.1 he when he .1141:nted: you z 

-.14-ig on a chair -when we game 

hOme.: fror., work • 

.n 43.4, wanted. you 

the altoits x116,-ht thers-? 

airrip 

t did yo.uso to do wi 4, the alit 

give -you? A Vire w.tnt t  

AnC. buy ou,n 

CROSS EX.Altri7ATION, BY Lfl. MIME: 

(4, Nowt 'Mary, aid. day school? A Yee. 

A Wen T• used,tc lO Ln66-Lh stroet• 

3.cng ago did y :13s. to live in eititit street? 

A About 12,;51-sa-s' att..o 

9, Haim 7,roz bSal t SuIdtia. achool 3flCO tiat timat 



• atreeti-, 

q How  long have you lived there A About a year* 

Q Do you live with your mother? 

Q, About a year? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, when did. you first meet Blandoli, when did. you 

first see- him? A January, last January. 

Q That is a year ago from last month? A 

4, 

Q 44 year ago/. 

Q _ Where did yoli'meet hi 

Q, In his rQoza? A Yes, sir, 

Where was he living at that time? 

street* 

(4 103rdstreet? 

Q, He vya,a no t living in the same .1) 

Chris tmas day, was he? A NO, sir* 

When, did you first meet him 

first meet him where he was working? A X ziot him in the 

Q, How did you acme to meet. him, in the room there? 

A Rose -nottenberg told. me that that was her uncle, we could 

go to him, so I went with her, 

14 Then you went to nandolit,F.roon3..in 103rd. street? 



When rourant; there v.iith Rose Bottenbargo .131a114011 

did no  do anything to yOu:. thpre tL4 hoe? 

troll .ueeti to go to the molting picture sb.Ows didn't 

A Yea, sir, 

1-r04 use:Li to g 

to the Moving picture show's  diant 

t; :Did—your mother 'know you were :going 

alto sho.we? A 

.4; You never told your mother? A sir. 

,Rose. Rottenberg use t 

ure shows too? .gar4 

4 That is you would, come there, get zioney off Blandeli 

and then all you girls would ‘go to the moving picture 

Q, He di ant t do anything theno did, he? A No,..  

Q Row far frora 103rd street where you first-met 

Blandoli did you live? A I lived- in-the same place • 

Q In the same hopze-? A -Yee) sir 

Q, rou lived in the Z..; ante howe with Blarzdoli then 

A Nos sir, 

4 rola mean  tLe ene plexe vkie re yott Are living now? 



Row many times . did yougo to  see Blandoli 1n 1O3r4. 

street? A A few timesq 

Q A few times? 

!me you sent. there 1 gave your mone,37-1, &dnt 

A sir. 

Q You spent that money on the iriovirig pioure ohm? 

Q, ITOw he did& t do 

did he? A Nol sir. 

Never did a thing to you? A, Not sir. 

Q, Now you know when he lived in 103rd, street? 

Q Row did you find tat out? A" Rose Rottenberg 

One. day she just waaked, went ,as far as 104th o breet, 1d eh 

se-en him looking out of the window and that is how she knows. 

(The Court. then admonished the jury, calling their 

sectionattention to  -415 of the Code, of Criminal Pr o-

.cedure s and took a recess until 2 o °leek 

CROSS MCA,14:11TATIO2  CONTINUED BY Mi. 11I1114: 

Q No15 )1E147) you vent to the premises in 103rsi street 



ways didn't you? A Yes sir? 

Q You went there to get soma money for the moving plot-
.  urs shows,  di dn t you? 

'Now, the first time that you knew- where Blandoli 

after he had 1.4eved from 103rd. street, .was when 

Rottenberg told you that she saW B1anido1i in a window of 104th 

is, that it? •A Yes, air*.• 

Q Then you and nella went over 

street, is that it? A Yes, sire 

ct }tow long after Blandoli had moved from 103rd 

did you go to where Blandoli lb-ad. in 104th Stree 

year, wasn't it? A Yes, sir* 

(A you had. not seen.131andoli in the 164th streot house 

until over a year after he had. lived in 103rd. atreet,., 

o the hou in. 104th-

• Q You didno t see 1:46 any time between that 

the only time that you '<knew Blankioli lived in  104th 'street • 

was after Melia Rottenberg told. you? A' Yea Ear. 

Then you and 43,el1a went to 104th...z.tre'tet, didn 

Q, You then got more•money for the moving pictures, 

didn't you? A Yes, sir. 

In 104th street? A Yes, 

CI, You kept going there and. getting money at diffez 

times while you lived. there didn't you? A Tess sir. 



Nolte yoi•titated that about flout week's prior t'o 

this wgs Chriitmai3 day the 25th' of :December? - . . . 

• :Bella liottenberg -and the Other Rottenberg .girl 

doli4S apartments that is where  he „lived?"' A Yes air. 

Q. Howl what time of night.was i t that yOu vent 

A 4 o'clock in tbe P.,fternoon. 

That was the f rtt ime, wasn't it? A Yes, stn. 

Then you ca:me back again at night didn't you, 

Bella Rottenberg and the other 'girl?- A. 'reel sir. 

That is the n.ght you say you stayed all night. 

You. remember saying that you stayed in the apartmert of lc 

oh all night with  Bella Ro ttenherg, clop" 

that? A 'Yes, sir, 

Well that—night when you went to 'the apartment of 

Blindoll., what time was t was .it ab out 12 o'clock ,a 

A 11 ofclock. 

Q, About 11 \o' clock? 

Q, At 11 o'clock at nl.ght you and Bella Rottenberg anti 

her sister went to to apartment--you and Rose went to tiE 

apartment? A Yes, sir. 

That was 11 o'clock at night? A Yes, sir. 

You went to the :Apt tmenti you knocked on the door, 

didn't you? A Yes 
• rt 

yon t Blandoli tWi. yo,Ir rac her had looked 



Oa. 

(6. 

1-7 • 

° you out an  the.4 you .coUld. ncikget into he house? At 

home? 

What did you .telI:hiM? A We 'told him We were afrixi 

to go home.. 

0, „Ton tOld Blandoli you 'wereafraid of your: father?, 

Yea,. sir. 

Q Why_ were you afraid to go home, , A Because my fathl.. 

er wanted to hit me* 

9, Your father wanted to hit you? A Yes, air, 

9, What did. he, want to 41...t you for) for being out. on the 

streets, :z.tnning around t wasn't it? 44. .Yea, 
Q That. /*int the first time your father wanted to hit 

you for that, wee it? A Not. air. 

You told this defendant that you :wanted to go n• 

his apartment to sleep  because your father wanted to hit 

you, is that it?... A Yes, sir. 

(t Re took you in) did& t he? A Yost air. 

Q He allowed you to go on his bed) didn't ? 

A Yes) sir. 

Q :you and this Rosie Rottenberg? A Yea) air. 

Q Re went in thefront room of his apartment didn't 

he?. A Yea, sir. 

Q, 

night? 

You and this Rosie Rott nberg slept  on his* b d that 

A Yes) air* - • 

He didu'  t do-anythn o you then, did. he? A No, 

011111,;;' 



He did t, attempt to do anything to you? 

Q, And the next morning what  time did You, leave here? 

clock; 

• Q, 'Where 4id. you go 

staying on the street.,„ 

You staied, on the 

place -then. 

How .ston;atter Aid; you go home? A Well) 3 

n- the afternoon,: 

What were you doing all that -time from 6 o'clock 

the morning until 3 in the afterno'on? A Nothing. 

Nothing? A. NO, air.... 

Did, you go to. a mo7ing140ture show that day? 

' Yes sir. 

Q, He didnt t give you any money) did. he, that n.ght 

A Yes, sir; he .gave "us 10 Cents', 

•q 10 cents? A real sir. 

Q Did. he tell you what to do ,with 

Q, "Then .the next evening after that CUd you see J31a 

gnawer) 

.Q, Did you see him from that 

the45th day of December? 

Q, Where? • A. In 104th street. 



Did. you -go -there end .see )3,1m. Yes, air. 

Who went with you? A' rosieio. 

Rosie again? A Y 

'Did he do anything or try to-do anything to you 

then? • (1,To answer). 

Q After the night that you _stayed a13. the night, the 

time you went to Blandel‘i house .did he ,attempt to d 

0;ything to you, then?. A ito, sir. , 

Q Now Christmas dasr what time .was it when you. went 

there? A 4 o'clock in 'the afternoon. 

Q Who went with you there? A Rosie. 

Q Who .else? A 

q,9"vosio. and Bellal A Yes, -sir* 

Q. Where were those apartments where B3.andoli lived, 

he  first floor? AL On the grOUnd floor. 

Q On the ground. floor? A Uat sir... 

Q The hall'. entranee, froM the hall.into Blandoli 

room?' A Yes* sir. 

(4,

 

He  had two_reoms there,. d4dut t.he? 

A front room and a back room? A so sir. 

Q When you went there what did yOlx say to him? 

said "Hello" and. he kissed us. 

q- He kissed you? A Yes, sir. 

a 

Yea are. 

A 

Q. What else did you do? A Men we sat on a chair. 

Q, _After t t what 'did you doL A Men he asked Rosie 

to lay on the bed.. 

NOW 

b 



zee .was 'that the front rOom or in tebaek 

A Xx the baok," rOom, 

In  the  baksk room? A Yes, 

Where was that- where were you at, '.12,St :timS? 

I.was .sitting, in the froht room on a chair, 

Sitting An the ,front room? 

Was the - door shut between the front room. and, the 

they had curtains.; 

Ocu.44 you See what was going on through the: .curtains? 

ct What do you say you saw Blandoli d 

laid on top 0t.Rosieif 

How 'long ad he lay on 

minutetok, 

About 10 mittute0 Yes ) sir*. 

W4is.t aid. 'Rosie do after that?' "A Then 

d he asked me to lay on the bed.. 

Then you laid down? A Teal 84,,ri. 

Q , Did you take your clothes oft? A I only to 

a.rawero off. 

You took your drawer 'J °V? A Yea sir. 

What did. Blandoli do then? A Well nothing. 



mean hie prfiVatee? Did you 800 is privatliss? 

g,D1d hot to anything with his. 'prt**tes to your person? 

A reggive- r• 

Did. he do anything? 

Q How long? A_ Only a few minutes. 

Now after`he had laid. on top of  Male did he Lay on • 

you how long, five minutes or ten minutes. 

Two minutes to -five minutes? A To  minutes* 

About 10 Intrutes? A Yes, sir* 

(4, Did you feel, anything? A t felt him moving u 

and down, 

Wilet is that? A Re wairmoving,u end. down. 

Did you reel anything Islas?, (No answer) 

 

*-Yea, sir. 

GI Never saw a man, a person before- thatt-- A 

ct. Row long have you been in this country 

did. you come from? 

(4, Hungs.ria? A ressiv_sir* 

4. Do you remember going down 

man about 4 years lig0 

To that the first time you 3awhiaprivate



u our go in it by:gement with 

I obsct to that your nonOr. 

LI 1t1iR: It is leading up to the other 

:.• Sr.X-RriN • On. this • indietment--- the quea 

credibility. 

MR. STRYKER: I irt is on that grovnt I will not 

object. 

0, Mary* you remember -going down In a basement with 

young man -about -.4 years agii? A No, sir. 

Did a young man ever expose his person 

basement about 4 years ago? . A NO sir. 

BY. IRE .COURT: 

Do you know what expose his _person Means-- showing-

you ,his privates? You understand that? 

(1 The question is did a young man Show you his private' 

parts in a baeempnt 4 Years ago? 

BY MR. MILIER: 

Q, After Blandoli 15:id on top of you in his apartment 

was there any blood: upon your person? A114 a 

Q, Nothing at -all? A No, air. 

}lbw many times did you stay out over night, 

knower. 

THE COUFW: 



Before last 'Chrig.titag how many _times had you bgen, 

°It_ of  your house a A Only three: times. 

night thai was? 

A . Your mother: didn' t know *lore you were? 

Q Did. she/ A No, sir. 

Q Did you ever tell your mother a lie about where you 

A Tea, sir. -

Often lied to yew, mother,. d.idn' 

BY lit,- S-TRUER'.: 

,You were ery much ashamed. of what the d.eienda 

done to you, wasn't. that it? 

MR. MIIIER: This is prior to the tame of th 

leged act. 

MB._ STRYKER: May X Ask counsel to _put in an 

jection and not instruct me on what the facts are • 

THE COURT: Objeetion sustained. 

-Q Did. the defendant Blandoli Oiler show -you any 'Pict-

ures when you were there? 

°Objected. to; objection Overruled.; exception. 

• TET COURT: Anythtng ih.at.haRpened between the de-

* .fenda,nt and the complainant Prior to December 25th 

" is 4thilissiblet to show the relations "between the parties. 

MR. MILLTR: I merely  wanted. to hall the objection 



" 

,deranditirti 

COIIRT:z. X *tort the. jury- te:und;eratand that 

is on trial for one..._ act but the reit/41001. between 

the _parties may be shown 

Q 'Do you remember what was On those pictures?; 

Same objection,. ruling* ‘and. exceptiOno 

I dcallt remember every 6-ile of them. 

po-ypu remember What was on some of them Y484 

What? A A lady lying 'down and. .a meo cn -44+ of her. 

  !A-7 
t. aid, ,he ever *show you pictures lilte that(showing _ 

witness picture)? A Teas. sir. 

. Q • 'Thu would know the pictue8 it 70, BRVI .them? A TP0 

q Would YOu? A Yes, air4 

Q, Did lie ever show you that pictures? 

Same objection; same ruling; 'exception. 

q What is the answer? A 704, sir 

N1lt4 STMEERI I offer that picture in evidence. 

( The picture referred to is marked Pe oPle Ex-
. 

• 200.bit 10) 

BY :MR. 111/aTi1a: 

q Now the.t picture that was shown to you, you can t 

swear positively that that was the same picture that .111andoli 

showed_ you 1:92 you? A He showed me thwt picture* * 

Q, He showed. you: one similar to 

you put any mark. on that picture tha 
. • 

didntt-hei 

aan identiti 

ISM 



it? n t yo4 that? Did you _Put 

on the picture se tliat you could. identif being the. 

sans. One alandoli showed to you? 

Only you think it was? -

8Y MR S TRPMR1 

You think it—is the same picture don! t you? 

A Yes, sir; I don't think it Xs the sang picture. 

(1 You don't think it is the sang Picture? 

showed me postal cards like that with dirty pictures 

Q You recognize this, picture,, don 1t You? oo 

.and see   is the picture he showed you? 

Q, Did. he show you that picture? 

MR. STRYKER: I offer it in evidence. 

Objected to; object-i-o-n overruled; exCe 

(Marked PeopleTs Exhibit 1.) 

STRYEIR; May  I show it to the .jury, 

Honor? Or. sh.4.3.1 I offer the_others 

That picture, did he show you that. one? A Yes, sir. 

That is one tb.a.t this defendant alandoll howed. you? 



MR... • STR17ICE 

Q He also ,ehoWed.. that: to you  later, didn't, he? 

141.114R.: ./ 

:- Q.. • .Did. he, show them to you. any  Other tithe? .. 

them" to me When he lived in 104th o tree-. 

Is that all you said? A Yes 

Speak out loud.- When did he show you 

Try and. refresh your memory,' to the beet of 

olle c ti on? A 103rd street was the first time. 

Q, -Did he show them to you More than once? 

me .them in 104th street -again* 

In 104th street again? A Yee,' 

Q, Oti two occasime-he. showed to ,you pictures? 

_Q Is that e.11? A Yes, sir.„ 

Q Did he -g3how you. any Christmas day 

.11.0w, look at that picture and. 06 if that is one •piet-

ure he showed to you either in 1b3rd or 3:04th street.'prior 

to Christmas clay 1911? A Yes). sir* 

(The second. picture is marked PeopiS 

And that picture too?_. _A Yee, sir. 

LER STREOR: I offer that aiao. 

Same objectioni, same ruling; 

(igarked People's Fahibit ) 

air. 



BY' 

tapeObjection;*aim ruling except _c23.4_,. 

MOO 

idk (Maed Exhibit- 4. 

This picture lSo? Yea; six'. 

Same Objection; sa4us exception. 

(Marked People ) 

MILLER:. All trus is under the same objection 

and I take an exception to each and. every one of them. 

Ard this one too? A Yes sir. 

(Marked Peoples Exhibit 6. 

MR.STI1YKE : X will.--"How 831,0W them o the jury) 

your 1101101" • 

TEE COURT: Yes. 

MR. MitLE  AU under 

ception. 

R. IIITLEi1:. 

he exile obj so ti _ and ex-

rou sa'Y the fire time -you ea* these plitures wa 

Ian Blandoli lived at 103rd. street? A Yes, sir. 

. q 'Were you there: alone -.at. the siri! 

Q Who was with you? A Bella and -Rosie. 

Q Bella and. Rosie were with 'Srou when Blandon showed 

you the piotures2 A Yes; sir. 

q And  the fir 'St time you saw them was in .103rd street? 

.,A Yes sir. 

now, the second e. ha showed you the picture were • • 

you alone or wee anybody—withiou? & Bose was witil 
_ 

you" ever go. alone to this man a house? 

ai 



t WitEtril t Ckiristmo.a he ahowed them 

It was before or after Christmge 

About how ling 'before. Phristatas—wati the last 

them to you? A It wee not very long. 

A month or two months? A Abetit a weolci 

Yee, e1.Z410. 

You werewith Rosie the Week-befOre 

Have you: a father* /slaty? • 

And sisters? A Yes 

You are the Oldeet?:- Yeei, 

HavenJt you ?jot a married sister? 

She ie the oldest? A Yee' sir* 

She. is fader than you are? 

COURTi 

YOu mean you are the oldest sister 

Q Does your marriled. sieter live with you? - A 

• q She lives away? A Yea., sir« 

Q Do you know hoi old ate is? A She ia20.. 

How Old- are you? A 1 

..131rIgto 4=14 



When you went over to Blandoli apiFtment -in 10.3rd 

street when he lived there, did the housikeeper Chase yoi 

away from there? A No sir. 

Did. she eve-r _ tell you to go away, you were 

running around tier. e? 

Q, The housekeeper did not?- A 

BY THE COURT: 

wilAt is your birthday? A January 

Q traimary 13th? A Yee 

Q, You were 13 this last month? 

Q Is that it? A Yes, air.: 

Q•Are- You going, to achocil? -A Yes 

Q What school do you go to? A N 

in? A The 4A-2. 

What does that mean? A The 4A class. 

113w many classes would. you have to go before 

don't you knew? 

What is your teacher's -A Lias Po 

Vih at do you study? A Geogra.phy. 

Anything else? A ilistorx. 
• 



When you went over to Blandoli apiFtment -in 10.3rd 

street when he lived there, did the housikeeper Chase yoi 

away from there? A No sir. 

Did. she eve-r _ tell you to go away, you were 

running around tier. e? 

Q, The housekeeper did not?- A 

BY THE COURT: 

wilAt is your birthday? A January 

Q traimary 13th? A Yee 

Q, You were 13 this last month? 

Q Is that it? A Yes, air.: 

Q•Are- You going, to achocil? -A Yes 

Q What school do you go to? A N 

in? A The 4A-2. 

What does that mean? A The 4A class. 

113w many classes would. you have to go before 

don't you knew? 

What is your teacher's -A Lias Po 

Vih at do you study? A Geogra.phy. 

Anything else? A ilistorx. 
• 



IQ DXV.i3Ion? A Yes, sir. 

Q, long division or short division?-

thing higher than that? 

d fractions? 

• Q, And some sograch7/ A Tee, B 

What does G*,!ography treat of, what do 

Geography? A The study of the world 

Q, How do you study that? By maps. 

Prom maps? A Yes, aira 

Toll have to d -us the truth here- tact& 

Q, What do you mean by the truth? (No answer 

Q, What do .you mean by saying a thing is true? 

• Q, What- do you mean by that? Xe the officer a black 

man there or a white .man? A A white.man. 

q Now if you ai& he was a b3.ack an would that be 



your did hi? A He didn't hurt me, 

Now if you said he ,did hurt you -would that be true 

or false? A it, would. be true. 

ct It woiffil—be true A.' Yes i ,•s r 

now that he hurt u would that 

be truth? 

What IS that? 

What would you call that? 

A lie? A Yes* sir. 

'lave you lied, here today or told us the truth? 

JA the truth. 

any harm to lie? A Yes,. s 

It is a good thing to lie? A NO str. 

Q What is it good.- or bad. to lie? -A Well bad. 

Well why is it bad? A Because you don1 t tell the 

Did this man ever do giny injury to, you besides what 

lyou .have told. us, did. he ever whip you or itoold. you? 

Ever hit you for anything? • A. N0.2 sir* 

You have no grudge against him? A 110 

Is that Qom— is .he. the only man eVer, did. this thing 



Sure o that? At:air* 

Dian t _sato be:ilia, In the moving:pictUrea do it?, 

A N 

The . lawyer asked you about) something that happened. 

four years ago Are you stirs no such  thing ever happened.? 

A No/ sir. 

Q Did. you ever tell anybody that that happened?' A: I 

never told. anybody. 

Q, Did. you ever make a charge agains anybody f having 

.shown, his privates to You in a basement? A No; sir, 

9, Sure Of 'that? A Yes sir. 

D • S A IL trE 

' on behalf. th. 

follows: 

93, 
A BROWN witneas called. • 

People,. being ,.duly Sw.orn, • 

•DIREOT EXAMINATION .BY MR. .STRIKER.1 

(The witneøs states he live-a At 165 Waa.t 58th street,) 

Q Dr. Brown, ..is it not? A Yes4 

'4Q• Dr Brown, you are dal admitted to prac-tice phYsie 

ad surgery in this state, under the laws 'Of this ar6ate 
you. not?. A Yes, sir: 

9, liovi.long have you been); physician it this state? 

A no° .1894. 

You stdied, dta you, in tha city New York? 

- 

a 

q What.institution of learnt did, you attend, ord.. 

MISS, 



d ,\-ko become at- \o The -11'0w York Univeraity. 

Q, The ,ful1 course at TeW Yoric Univerait ?. A Yeei 

Graduated? 

Got your .dip2op3.4?.. A 

Af7teriaras passed. your. examinations to become 

doctor and were admitted to -practices is that so? A Ye 

(I Rave you been practicing ati—e.,doctor in this cit 

WITNE8S: 

BT MR. ITTRYEER: 

of medicine at the University and Bellevue Hospital medical 

assistant visiting phya.cianellPvue 4661041 

and Consulting physioian at the 'Tow Rochelle hospital, 

loaning physician for the children's society. 

Q, In the. course of your professional duties have you 

had.. occasion to examine children little girls? 

/ have 

To lunar ain whether or  not in rcourae had. taken 



-made. such, an ,axaminatiOn? A 1:11.1mA m&te over ath914 

1112010.44? A Teal 

SO that  you are  able, from your eXpe,rierideyour 

..prOfessional knowledge an4 from your reading .and. from your::. 

adtual practice, are you not, to determine on an examination 

:of a, girl,..whe.tb.er Or not She has had.- interceUrke?' 

Q, Did—you examine the little girl in 'this case, 'Mary 

llack? A sir; I did 

When did you make that ezamination .Doctor? A On 

the  29th day of .December, 1911* 

Doctor,  just: tell the Court, his lion ,r, and the 

_gentlemen of the jury' wh.at you discevered as a result of that 

examination* - Is this the lit tic  girl tu court. here 

tug ti) the complaining witness)? A Yes, ,sir. 
- 

Q, Tha tis ?,lary Pollaøk, la- it? A Yes s 

A I found the genitals presented. evidence 

of a recent penetration by a blunt instrument; the hyraen 

was ruptured on the right hand upper corner and on the right 

hand. upper corner of the ;hymen was a recent' tear, triangular 

in ape, and the ed.cc were red and bleed.l.ng• 

Q They hewed th-at penetration had been side and. that 

• zir 



with any degree of certainty how rec-

ent this penetration was? A Well I should say inside of 

CROSS CAMI1UTIO BY MR ,4LtIJR 

As far as you know'1)00tor, O. have been 

he same day that you made the exaMinatio41 could it not? 

there Were some evidences of l2ae beginni 

.q !Mose beeline evidences take place'1744,hin 

short time after the ].aoe'ation? A Well yes 

a:clean wound you begin to get-  in a -

•Q Could that be done within 24 .hOurs after 

had. taken pXacie? A No, six'; 

.

 

Could .it be within two days? A In a clean wound, 

couple of days u could begin to see 

Q Frmn your ezamination that you Made of the. person 

s young girl could that laceration have taken place 

the appearance of it. 

You should not think so? 

.Q NOW, you say, that when you-made he °'e mina uion. there 



wound were would: bleed. -cm. the *lightest totiCk, 

If thoae ItitrAtigr10 Were made at the time ::Ithey•werli 

.,made titou34 the biQod, wou34nt t there be evidence o blow 
'YOU mean if you examined it immediately- after?. 

.(1 .A.t- the time. the lacerations were mad as a natural . . . 

result wouldnit there be an amount of 1400 A The amount 

of blood would depend on the size of the tear_axid tier-blood. 

supply ofLthat particular part* 

Q, If these lacerations were ,made' during a particular 

time would nit there) after. that time,. 17ouldnv t there be blood. 

A- There would be a slight "5leeding.. 

natural consequence of the laceration?: 

/*001 sir; Certainly* 

lbou in addition to that it wOuld blood at frequnt 

intervaLe? A -No, sir* 

ct How frequently would it bleed. again? ,A It might 

t bleed at all unless you attelaxpted to miaow the clot 

which formed almokt imthed.iately. 

Q, ;Well on that day that you made the exaMirlatiOn w1113•• 
a 

•nst there evidenoe of bleeding there? A Yes sir; when 

I would. take a piece of cotton.- the structure of. the tissue 

in a tear of that kind) 3.11 it is rieaLed. over, the nittoous 

membrane is healed over a section of that surface will not 

• cause any bleeding; if it is denuded and. still a fresh tear 

touchinz of i t will cause a little ooZing 



In w)at part 01' •the4-0-iitop.,•cf 

••••that that is  the ..prO..ecting 

mextbrane at•the. •wer .e.nd•••ef the vaginae 

Q how fr would. the:•Peinetrat.io Make_77-

That -vrolild -depend .npo.n • the  Oise-cf the 

penetrating et and the 8i.ze, ktUrq.444i. •recerti.V.e.: 

object t1ia i the -vagina... 

.Now was • that 11i-icily ruptured. or partially•.rupturad? • 

A hat i td,a, • 

litati: the laCerati•on,.. 

of the hymen? 

*the 'hymen on 

a. tear from the apex to thebU.ae 
zrztarginarl 

at side* That is axmembrane with a perfor• 

a.ti.on ii the center 'and, it was torn from the margin down 

to 71ere It was attached.. 

Was that laceration such that it took the virginity 

away from ti complainant? rupture of the hym 

q trus It 4 total or Pe:rtlal ruPture? A It was 

plete rupture of that oortion of the hymen* 

Q. Ycu could not say as to he exact timethis .t:ook 

place, tea certainty? A No'sir. 

Q Only within a day or two? A Approximate1Y1 that 

By lp COURT: 

Prom your ob.sfirva on oZtii.girl,s genitals would 



ray opinion' 'be that the. enetrating obje 

Xargeto prOdutie complete penetration 

,here had, been fa *lie penetration A 'Yes* sir*. 

What do you mesaby thrhymen that. te the: 

jury? A That is the marginal membrane which protects 

differentiating the .-external :and. :internal, genita 

That is in a woman's private parts? 

-Before you, can enter the vagina the hen must._ 

in the carte, and. the- introduction of a blun 

instrument will tear the hymen. 

That hyraen cannot be torn IA thout eoie penetration? 

A Without pxere being- put on --:Lt 

That e pane tra tipn? A Yes ir 

It is -beyond the „Mouth of the genitals 
k 

air, th external gentalø aro the protecting surface which 

YOU *can sep.raLe the lips of the a:atornal genitals and then 

eke direct p rure against this thin Membrane.. 

BY ER. ST-KMER: 

.The penetration of the byrnen, A you: described, 

might be ce.used by sexual intercourse? A. laght be caused 

by 'sexual. intercourse, 

13I 
I • 

Could it be caused by anything 

instrument* 

use any blunt ins trument, b 



and take this:laceration? A Yes, sir; oertait4iy* 

Q, .Could. it be Otumed, by a far.Co,r atri4ing that po.p, 

•tion of  the ..anatomy?' A Yes, r; straddling a chair for 

instance. 

MR. STRIME It is conceded. on the rea'o .r077ur 

Minor, that the complainant 'Mary Pollack ki nd 

• wife of this defendant. 

M A R P 0 10 L A 01C •a witness called on behalf of - 

the People, being duly sworn, teatified through tfifici-

al Interpreter Visher as fellows 

(The witness states that she lives 
• 

.s4treet .) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STR'YXER; 

121 East .102nd.. 

Q Are you the mother of the little girl Mary Pollack 

who has been here today? A Yes, sir,.—

Q You are her own mother? A Yes, stry 

Q You gave bizth to that child? A- Yes sir. 

Q, Do you know the date of that • child* a birth?. 

uary 13th she was 13 years old. 

Q, She was 13 years old this year? Yes 

Q Have you a cdrtificate there witiT ou?. 

THE COURT: There is no question. about that.. The 

jurors have a right to see the complainant and in con-

nection with the testimony given as to'hor age, consid-

or her apsarance as to the fact whether or not she. is 

1.1111111 

t. 

ET,'N 



undier 18 years of, age. You are proceadeing on thy 

jjecond cotnt . of rape in the second ae eet 

MR.STRYKER: Although, we have the. first count -

yet our case will deveXop largely, linder the second; - 

degree* 

HE OOURT AccordIng to the  complaiAan own 

CROSS EXAMINATIOTT-BY MR;   

ct How many children have you? LA Thx.eps one is married.T, 

Mary is the second. child?' A. Tect; air,* 

Q You have had considerable trouble with max% haven't • 

you? A She ;was only bad* 

Q How g has she been bad she was a little 

,Pdakttyira 00.1a0o3;* 

Iow ior4g *40 ws tht? 4 it 4,year a.nce that 

• -2 
Q She don, t always tell the truta2) does t2e? 

Ms STRYKER: I object to that'ont2ae ground it is • 
not proper Cross examination or 'the proper way to attack 

the •credibility of the complainant 

• Objection overruled. exception* 

bUt;some times ) o ther times she tells the •truth. 

Size ' Owed to stay away grow; yotar house at nights 

did& t he? Yes, sirs ha dad remain sway but. after 9 



o'clock she came limit and I ,looked after her. 

Valera: did you go looking for She always, 

told. me she goes to the •girls..t_ with whom She goes to Sahool* 

night?—=-A Once, 

She say's- -then she-- was not away 'three times, waa. 

she? A NOI ''once and Christmas time when she had. 

this fear that I knew about this then she was away again. 

flow long was she awathen? A* Two .days; she Wag 

afraid to come home becauSe the janitrese came to te21 me 

that She wae with a man and T. was :trying to find eat.' 

Men did. she come home after Christmas 

went on Monday at 4 o'clock in the afternoon and. TuesdAY:I. 
• 

went to the police station, and Tuesday night X looked for her. 

I went to aeme, .aeguai.ntahaes .whom I know tai. -the time •in the; 

candy store and, then the man told, me qtrs. Pollack• your Mary 

W4.s. b.ere last night..H 

This man told yo l.1 that? A Then I tgio.him i±_. she 

com.es

 

her  give her anything she wants) I w 11 -pay f 

and I will call for her. 

The police- told you that? A The candyatore man. 

The man that runs the candy store? A Yes, air. 

Where is that candy sto-re. me!n? A The candy, store 

is on Lez:ington avenue between 103rd. and. 104th strae,ts 

Where did you find Mary Pollack after. Christanas 

where did you finkl. her. vrhen you first  saw her?' A X went 



th the • children o± the janitor to the police station 

then T.went .to  the-. ca.ndy etore thinking maybe Mary-. there* 

BY THE COURT: 

Where did you _flnd her is the quest ti on. -A In the 

candy a-tore; she was there. 

MILLE 

What time -was that? A 8 o'clock in the evening. 

wara Edie, alone,„or with anybody 1 A No, 

wa all alone. 

0, Did. she say. anyih ing to kou at that time 

sir) e. 

• wlaere slae 

had. been? A Na sir, no thing be c allot the de te c tives 

mediately tams and I turned her Ot-ere.   

Q Did. she say anything to you where she had been since 

aariatmas up to the time that you first saw her there? 

A She always told. Me she had. gone with the. glrle. 

BY DIE COURT: 
_ 

Q But on this night  question, after Christmas, when' 

- you found, her did she say anything to you about where She 

had. been? A Not sir. 

Q, Did -she say what she had. been doing from the time she , 

left you on Christmas day up to the time that yOU a.aw her 

there? A No, sir; because the detectives were there' 

mediately. 
111•0••••••.1.41•••••••1.. _ 

Q tha 2 How. long before  how many tirne& had. she been 
so. 

--away from bone all night? A Once.4 

Q • When was • that? A. That was two wøBke before,Chri.itt., 

t. 



At that time was Mary going school? 

ct Did you ever go to the printipal of the echoed and 

complain about her? 

Q, What was your oause of complaint to the principal of ° 

that school? A I wanted to find out if .she 

and if she was learning all righ 

Q That did you find out? A She was all right'in ic 

Didn't you go thert . to find. out where 'Mary we 

,ting the money. from? A I never seen any money, not even 

half a cent. 

BY THE EIGHTH ;JUROR: 

-et You say that Mary was bAdo Did yoia iiave any other 

meaning to say that only that she was flighty. in school? 

A T didn't want , to 'allow her to go an. the '.e." 
know in the city of New York-the children are not all right. 

I always wanted her to stay in the house. 

wanted4 I didn't. think of anything bad. because I 

her money myself and food was alwayii in 

Q Never knexv her to- do anything bad? A 

was in" school . 



witnaaslled 

tho People, being alai. 010/0p4 testified as fol-. 

4. Where at you 1ive? 

What number? A .224 

East or west? A Eas 

Between what avoid:tea is 

Now 'Rose I want you to talk to me sid just 

MR. MIMER: If your Honor please,. before  this 

witness is interrogated by the District Attorney I wOuld• 

like to find out her age. I did. not hear the 

MR. STRYKER: 13. 

Look right at me and simply anwer questions 

Yes, sir. 

questioni3 that concern the defendant-- ask her concern-

ing transactions which affect.the complainant or' 

which the complainant was present. 

MR. STRYKER: Yes, sir, I will confine 

THE COURT: 1Tot any otb.era. 

Q, You see these 12 men in the jury) Rose,. they want to 

hear wh.at you are going to say. 

Q His Honor: the Judge wants: to hear you and. I wan to: 

hear you and. the defendant is entitled to hear youi 

keep your voice Up * A Ye 0. air+ 



Don't be 'afraid at all. Please look right at me, 

How long have you known Mary? A Two years I know  her. 

Q, About two years? 

rou prayed with Mary, haven 

Do you. know this man sitting at the table, the 

l'es, airy 

Q What is his name? A Blandol 

4. Blandon? . A Yee,  sir. 

You have known .him qui. 1B a long time 

Bose? A Tees sir. 

4. Is he your uncle? A 1o, sire 

BY THE -0OURT": 

he your uncle? A 

Q, Did you ever say he was your uncle? A NO, sir, 

Q Did you bring, Mary Pollack to this man?" A Yes 

4. And. introduce 

Q Row long is it since you brought 

A About one year. 

• Q About one year? A Test sir+ 

Was it sometime in Zanuary, some into about 



Where was that? A' 104th strap t . 
, - 

Do you happen to ',remember th6 number there? 

Q East ids? A Yes, 

vtha t --taippnuee IF4Ett 

Between 8th and Uadison avenue. 

qDovt, citten did you go to Blandeli a 'room, in 3.0rd s tree t_ 

w th Mary Poliaok, many times, or_ not often? A- Many .timea 

'Manzi times? A Yes, air. 

DidsBland.oli use f'to give you an thin 

ere? A Yes, air. 

Q, What did lie use to give you? A, 1e iiøed to give 'us 



w much money did: he up. 

0,, cents? A, Yew 

o gave you .50 cents? A Y 01  

And gave Mary Pollack' 59 cents? 

What days would you 'IA01.18.134. go the'e? A Sundays. 

Yes, sir. 

-What did Blandon use to do to you in the presence --

when Mary Pollack Vas you %Lat., did BIandoli use to 419? 

MIIZER: I Object tP 6liat as in.corape tent, 

relevant and  imma,terial what ha did with this witness* 

'Tali, COURT,: In the presence 

I will allow -it. _ 

•  Excel) ti on • . 

.tz What d.ici ho use to 

T12 COURT: Bef ore,. Christmas 

MR* STRI1MR: During all thatyear wz 

o to you Wheri you An cl Mary ettate -bhere? 

viE WITNESS: T9Dit: Mary on the' bed.* • 

ta't at (31 riatraa2. We will go back 

remembe r Chris trims A. Yes) sir* 

Las t Ohrit3 tixtas day? AYea 0 _811;4* 



-.About at time of day did yo U •ge t there? 

clock* 
.\ 

R, - 7irst? 

rou came b ode the e ec ond time and ound him? 

Q, Was that in the t A Tee, 3ir; he was 

there in the afternoon* 

Wao Mary Pollack with you when you went' there .on 

that day? A Teat sir. 

Did you 'find him or not when you got there in the 

afternoon? A Yes, air* 

IAIn his room? A Test sirs 

Q, What did. he say to you, Rose when you got 

what did. he say to you and to Mary? A 

Q Keep your voice up A Told her 

off on the bed. and. he. lay on topof her 

Q Did you see this man Glandoli 

•A Yea 

DUI, ae h 



Her .drawets were off? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did. ao lay n you that day?, A - Yes, , 

Q, Was it after he laid on Mary? 

, Q, Where was Mary when het-was lying 

on -the lounge* 

Q, In the same room?, A Yeat-

Q, _Was the-re a bed, and. a lounge 

bed and a lounge.. 

Q, In the one In two rooms. 

1311t when you say he was lying on you 'where 

Q, You saw4what be did to you? A 

A Yea, LLr. 

Q Was that the first time be had. done thaTt.to 

on this dap A Yes, sir. 

Q, Had. he ever done that to you before? 

TEN COURT: In the presence-of Mary. 

MR, S TRIKER: / will withdraw that last clues ti on iv, 

TIIE COURT: Ths jury must iniderstatnd.,that -Vale de-

fendant is not on trial, for anything he did. tq..anybod.y 

but, to the complainant on the d ate titated, in the indict-

man.  reacon why this :testimony is admissible, 



that it find* to sihow the. tilatiorks---, 

n stgee Mary , • , d the defendant. That. is, .411. 

BY MR. STRYKER,: 

Now, Rcise what I want to find out is and. what the 

-tfUdge .wants me to ',find out is.o. you had. been 'there at the 

'd.efendento a room before OhriStmas, hadn't you, on .-oither days? 

A Yes, sir. 

Other _Sundays 

4 I am talking about the days you went there with Me,ry.• 

?blladk. A Yes sir* 

44 You bad gone before Otmas A Yes, air.' 

With Mary? A rep, sir. 

To the deVandaritte room? -A sir. 

XS that right? A Yqs1 sir* 

You had gone up there on different  Sundays during 

that year with Mazy P011ack? A Zee, sir. 

-4 To the deferkdantis room?" A Yes .sir.. 

Both.. at 103rd and 104th street? A Yes, sir. 

Is that -right? A YetTft sir* 

Di-d- he ever lie On you on any of ithoes times wirac'm Mar 

Pollack was there? A Yes' sir 

And sometimes took out his private parta • e? 

A Yes, sir. 

When Mary was there? A Ies nire-

go' lay 032 you a number of different Sundays? A Yea, 
4 
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Before ebriatinas* that /Agile A Zee, air. 

nid the defendant over show you any picture 

there? A Test air. 
a's COPTt. Now that is exc.14dads 

STRYTOR: In the pr.eaence of Mari,. 'Pollack 

Marr WOO there" 

THE COURT; I will exclude the ques tiozV 
PIA you ever see 14n show -any picture's to Mary? 

Yes.  air. . 

see the pictures to01' A Tee' 

Would you recognize those pictures now ir you ea 

You think you could? A Teo • si 

Sole obj c tian4 object ion overruled;  •exception. 



your presenee? A •Tes, airs 

All these? 

Exhibit 5 also? A Yews, 

Also Exhibit 6 V A ies, air; he 1sbod them to me 

showed to you allthese? A Ye air. 

MR* =Int T vtah to make an ejection 

these exhibits and take an. 0.14ePtion. 

Objection overruled; dxception. 

Now these pictures I have shown you, did he ever say 

anything that you heard to Mary about these pictures? A Yes, 

4' Tell. the Court and these gentlemen of the Jury what 

he said. to Mary when he talked with her about the piotures? 

A X don't know. what to say. 

4 Tell the truth, that is all, whatever he Said. 

A He told Mary to do what is on the picture. 

'4 He told you that?. A Yes, sir* 

.You heard that ? A Yes, sir. 

.14d he 4b anything to you in the presence of Mary 

What did he do? Tell the stenographer 

tell this man if you don't want to say it out' DO ro.Uwan 

to whisper it to this man here? Would you Ira er.do that? 

Just tell this man here, you don t have to talk ott,t so that 



'What. he did. to  you.t- •whatelter:.BlandOli 414 to • you 

&ter 12ert 014 .70: to 4O ...like. these ...plOures.?" 

to tftke t iii•ipy:niout,#*-

Q, • Take what in . your mouth? A gis! 

be stricken out. 

Motion denied; exception. 

TM COURT: He is not on  trial for that offense 

but it is part o,f the relation existing between him and 

the complaining witness. Any transaction between them. 

prior to the 25t1a, of -December is adnziasible in evidence 

CROSS X.AIIINATION BY MR. =VAR: 

Rose, how old are you? A: la. 

Do you know when you werEi born? A Not sir. 

Then did you fir at meet Blandol.i .the defendant? 

I knowed him when he came in my heu,sa. 

A I dont t remember when 

Q Di4 you live, in araa house where Biandoli 



did :.he 'come: go to your 7hOUS07: 

there the janitor and. he asked :us for a tenant* 

That As. that? A We  were .the janitOr. 

You .wers• the janitor of the house? A Yes, air 

He- was one, of the -tenants? . A No sir; he was 

ing *_me: for a. tananti: he lived. in 103rd street, 

if4 Ile inquired- about a tenant? 

•me - for' tk tenant and I showed him* 

Q. You showed •121m where the tenant :liven,.A Yes, 

_ Q That was the , fi nit time you met B4n4eli.. wan  t 

•Q ,•Now, you used. to go there where Blandon lived. 

didntt you? A Yes, sir. 

How far was ..bhat from where you lived? A Well he 

lived on the same tbloak, the. next bleak he lived An 193rd 

, 
Q, You used. to go there with Mary Pollack.? A Yes, sir.. 

Q, Did. he use to give you money to go to the .moving /Act-

You used. to go there quite often,didn't you? 

ct Now, you remember when he moved from 103rd. street, 



hat:Wantto live. in 104th straet., 

did. he tell you whore he was, going when he le 

103r4 ,street? A. Yeas sir; he  gave me the .s.d.dress. 

He game you the address? A Yes, sir* 

Q, Did, you go to 104th street? - A, Yes, sir. 

Row long after he left 103rd street did-you go tc 

104th street? A Well / don't know, about three,montbs 

- 

Q About three months? A X __thin3c about three m0X1 

Q, You -did. not see him for about tame months after he 

left 103r4 street, did, you? A- Yea, sir; I didn't go to 

him for three mOnthe; I didnt t go for three months to him. 

You didnt t see him then for three months? 

Do you understand; my question? 

VIE COVRX: She says she did. not see him for three 

You didni t see him for three. months. 

Q You did or didn't? A. I did not see him 

it the fact that the first time you saw him 

ere going by on 104th street and you saw him in the win-. 

q, Did you know where he lived before you saw h 

that window? 'A Yes, sir. 

Did. you know that he. lived 'before that? 

he aef ndani lived there? 



, 

:bete 

T a -did not kn, .where_he lived? A N 

.41 Ever been to Sunday school? A was 

never in Sund.ay schools 

Never was in unday school? A No, air. 

s raii• 

You live home with your, father and. mother? 

Q, Rave you any Sisters and brothers? A Yes, sir* 

Q, Row many? A 1. got. two is era and toro brother 

• .Are you the youngest in the -family, have you any-. 

body else younger than you? A I got a younger sisters 

.q, You .are the youngest? A No# .sir; 
‘14 , ters younger, 7 years old. 

#, 

, 

got other Ilia., 

Q, Row long have you known Mary Pollaa?, A Two years 

ct Two years? A Test, sir, — 

(1 Where did you meet Mary Pollack? 

,her house? A Yes; sir. 

A Xxi the house. 

Q You used to go out with Mary Pollack frequently? . 

A Yes, sir. 

I. Q Ever go out and stay all night w 

A Yes, sir* 
••• 

•••!. • • 

th Mary Pollack? 

Q How many times? A Only one night i2i4a heuse, 

Q In his house? A Yes,, sir. 

Did you ever do out after that? A TO, air. 

TI E COURT: After what? 

Iffi• IfilatEll After tbe night she II 
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in h.iL house* 
g Did you ever atV out "Ay. other n No sir* 

. Never stayed out any other n1g.4t? A No, air, 

You were with • Mary Pcllack in -Blendoli s house 

on Christmas,  ivereni t You? A Yes* sir* ..._. • 

You went there at 12o'clock in the d 

0, How did. you come Lo "do there?' AiT Mary told. me to go 

Q, You didnt t 'tell Mary to go, there? A No sir, 

When you want there you didn't home; 

Aid. you?. A- No, sir. 

What time did you -cent back? A About 

R, About one_ o I olOOk?A 'rest sir 

Q, I4d. you find B3.and:4i home then? A Yee, etr, 

'Then the first time you saw ,33lando1i 9fl Christmas 

think around 

Q, 12 oroloolt? - 

Q, You dirtt a 

act otelOok. 



• Yeu-.went there at 4 clock) that It? A Yes 1z 

bid you 11.44 aiancpai there Y 

Who .Wae with yoU then? A Mary Pollack* 

Mary -Pollack? A, Yee sir* 

What did you do. *len you first _went there 

What did you do when you went the're 

A _Well he *Ebld Mary to go on the 

What is that? He told. Mary to g 

Q, Mary went on the bed- did. she? 

You had. not gone on the bed before that 

No, sir* 

Q Mary went on the 'becL4zist ? 

Mary to go first on the bed. 

Q, That was the first thing that was  done) Mary and he 

went on the bed? A Yes) 'sir. 

Is that it? A Yes) sir. 

There were you at the. time? , A Sitting on the lou 

You Were sitting on the lounger— A, Yes 

Q That was in the front room) wasn't it?. 

Q Then after Mary and Blandoli vent on. the bed. YOU 

Q, Is that it? A Yes 

Now up to that time osle, Christmas,,had. Blandoli 

ever done anything to you? 4. Yee) sirs 



When? A It' wAs on dhr.istm*!:1 

Before Christmas'? A Before Christmas he done i 

the sale tbing* 

Ca, Lqd the same -tiantr? A Yaes 

q Who Was there at that t4.la0 

q Mary Pollack? A Yee .0.ir. _ 
Q Then before Christmas BlandOli done the ame 

you on the 'bed. that he did to you on Christmas? 

she was with me. 

Q Every time that Blandoli lay down with YOU on the 

Mary Pollaok was _present, was she?  at sir*--* 

Q Now, when you left glandolit e house Christmis aft 

noon Where did you go- then? A To the moving pictu'rese. 

The moving pictures? •A Yes, sir. 

Q, About What time of day was it you left there?  



clock? A Y so 

Q, Now long were you, in the moving pictures? 

'clock.-

Q Till. 9 o'clock? A Yes air, 

Q Where did. you go then? 

. You went home? A Yesir.air* 

Q Where did. Mary rollack go?-

housei 

Q What is that? A She went up t 

To 711:er house? A yes* sir.,  

Did you s ee her go in her house? 

Did you go wi tb. Ilex up. to her b.ouse? A 

ilia you leave Mary Pollack 

live one block away from her house. 

One block away? A Yes1 sir, 

You want home-, didn't you? A tee, air 

had. happened. at Blandon, house?- A No) 

You did. not say a word? A Not sir. 

Q • After this happened were you brought into the police 

court on Christmas day.— how long after that werre you brought 

into the police court? A .1 think it is about two weeks.. 

Two weeks afterwards? A Yea, air. 

pid you say anything to riybod.y between 'Christmas 

day. and. tem weeks afterwards? 

701.1 didn't  Bay A. thing to anyb 



(I When, how long afterwards, wasit the next day, the 

same night, the --next morning or 

The next day? A Y 

Where did you see her? A I seen her on the atreel 

Where, what street? itk Up where _she lived, around 

was the neit da 

Q Mid she tell -you she had not been home? 

She did not? A No, air; she did not. 

Did she. say here she was stopping? A, No, sir. 

What di d she say? A the said she WaS up to Mary'.13 

- Mary's siSter, s house she . Said she was. 

Up to her sister's house? A Yes 

IS that all she told you? A Yes, air. 

Now, when you laid on the bed with Blandon did he. 

do anything there? A Yes, sir. 

thing out, and he lay on top of me., 

Q He laid on top of you? A Yes, sir. 

ct Did he do anything? A Tea,  



-Tilt° your privalc,e .\plarto?,. 

Li you feel. anything?, A A little bit. 

Q, :Did you Bee any blood anywhetre? 

Rad you ever seen 'a matt* private parts before 

- sir. 

2 Q. Did. you ever see any p.ortion of a man? A Nø 

How _long have you -been going to these Moving. pict-

ures? A I don' t remeMbe r how long. 

What is that?' A I don' t remember how- long. 

I think about a year. 

Q, Go in the nighz not lately. 

Q Did. you ever go there and stay out all-night? 

.Only one night I stami in his" house. 

Q, You only stayed in his house one night? A Yes) 

he says that is the Only night eh 

TBE WITNESS Till 9ot clock. 

Q Did. you go alone or with anybody? 

Q, Always went witb. Mary? A Yes) sir. 

Q Every _4.me you went to Blandolit 



'and 4th avenue?' A Tee, sir. 

Have You and Mart talked about 

Have nOt said a word to her? 

at here toda 

Sure aborut that? A Yes sir, 

Do you go to school? 

Where? A 96th street. 

That class are yOu in? 

Q In the sarne, class with Mary? A resit sirir 

goes to 106th street and I go to 96th street. I go 

ferent school. /. 



4 D4 you .get any from anybody except Blandoli? 

ir 

Sure about that? 

4 You know what the truth is, cia you not? A Yea, 

Do you know the difference between a lie and the 

She has? A Yes, sir. 

Row many times? A Only 

4 • Only once? A Tess. sir. 

BY MR. STRUM: 

That ivas the time that you and. Mary .spent the nigh 

at Blandon's house? A Yes, sir. 

.You have a little sister named Bella) haven't you? 

A Yes, sirs 

She was  With you Christmas day, wasn t she? - 

4. She was there at Blandon a rooms? A Yes, 

She is younger than you are? A Test sir* 

You began going t o the moving pictures- when BlandOli 

.began giving you the money? A Yes, sirs' 

Wit-fleet:3 called on behalf-

ten tined as, folloirl: 



Row long ago? X don, t IcrlOvrp 
ir 

Dia you ever have a birthday 

do u.know yciu are 11 yi:oarti 014? 

an you speak .4rIg1ish? A Yea) 

are 11? 

Q„ —What 

Q, Ther 

What 

Q 2B? 

A 7..e 0 

A.• Yeal 

Yes? 

9, Subtraction? 

.You don't do any Arithmetic? A Yee oir; 

What do you do in Arithmetic? A 7314t ;t don. t go 

in the Sooiaty,,,,, 



A Year air. 

What do you mean by the truth? ./L To tell the 

Q .What is that, the truth what is that? A. To 'tell. 

-the trutha 

: What ad: it be?. (No answer) 

rf you said it was raining now would you have told 

the truth? A Nol far, 

What would that-be if_it ism,: t the 

otherLthiii.g called when you ,don tell the truth., when yousay 

what i not the truth? Did. you ever.hear.of .a. lie? 

A %.ess 

it right to )4e2 A ITo,„giro 

-TEM COURT: I doet think we had better swear thic 

witness:  ¶Iake her otatement* 

Dime T EXAMINATION BY MR. STRVaR: 

Where do you live? A I00th Street, east, . 224. 

q, Bella) .1' Want you to look at Me. Pout be afraid. 

because you know I wont t hurt you. Talk so that -every • one 

f these gentlemen) all of these 12 men can hear you, A Yea, 

qt And I want the Judge 



win you? Yeoi Sir* 

Now You are a Dieter of Rosie R ttenberg 

not?- A 
Do you know little Mary Pollack?. A: I* 

' She is-a friend of your 61.ster 

Where do you live? A t224 East 100th street.. 

Ea? A Yes) sir; between Sri' and. 

Q -rd and. 2nd avenue? A Yee, 

Q, Did. you ei=e-fl-Wo-la man here sitting at the tabi 

.;before?- A Yes, Sir. 

This sedond maui? A Yes, oixt0 

The man ± am pointing to just new? Ares, air. 

Do .you know h.is--zname? . A Yes, 

What is his name? A I3landO14. 

Blandoliy tr.B1arntoU. 

•Q, Is that right? - A Yesy strop, 

Have you ever been to his 

Do you know where his room was?. A re.f!,_ air* 

Where as it? A It was in 104th stree‘ 

104th street? A ilea, 

Did you go there with anybOdY A Yes, air. 

Q Vao did you g o there with? A With Mary. 

RI Mary rho? A Mary % Pollack"! 



(7.) 

Mary Pollack? :roe mirfi, 

Did.. you .440 go with QUr alst,*1 A Xesi., ir 

24 "Do you remember Christmas :day? A Teas sir. 

.Y.tai. remember: Christ4LaS d nit"you? A Yes,: ti 

4 Did you go around there in the., afternoon. or Christmas 

daY to 104th s-traet$ to Blandolif.s room? A To40 sir* 

Q Do you remember going there? A "res., . sir. 

4, What did. you see 131anabli do to , -Mary Pollack and: Roes 

that day? A She laid, on the bed. 

q Did he lay - Mary on '4,1ao bed.? A Yes 1. sir. 

4. What about his trousers, what did 12,0 do with them? 

He tOok theM Oft*• 

4: What about Mary'.a drawers 

R. Tmxtramr, object to that 

4040 

e took Mar' drawers 

lead.ing 

Yilkat hAPponed with the drawers? ABe. told Mary to 

take the drawers off So Mary took the dra fere ort and,  he took 

his ,blouse orr an,d he laid lifaxy on the bed. and he laid. on- top 

Of' :her 

Q Where were you/ A At a eeat by the 

Q In the some room? A Yo6 ei,rt. 

Did. you see all this? —A Tee, sir., 

Q D1.cI sae move uo and, a01,11 or ie still when on top of 

.4 Hs moved up and down. 

CLOW. 

1:Toir d. ho iiiOw y-OU 441 iur.io bhsro. that day, 

d he show Wan!' ilaret? he showed everybody 

r 



A Test 

How about that? Is that one 'of theM? A: Yeas a 

Same objection; same ruling.; exception. 

Q, Here is Exhibit. 2. is that a picture he showed? 

A Yes, 

q ibi3. 

9, Bxhibit 4? 

Q, Exhibit 6? 

picturep* 

Exhibit 6?. 

Q, These dirty 

BY EE COM1T: 

Dtd he ohOw these piøturse to Maz7 and. to Rosie? 

A To everybody.. 

DY Ali. STRYKER: 

q Where were you when he eh, 

on a chair and, everybody was s tting on a chair,. 

Q, Iooking at hein all together? A rest sir. 

Q Do you remember going around toDlandelitS room after 

be was arres ted s-ometime wi th officer Butts? A Yes4 sir. 

q Do you know A Yes; sir. 

The big ta,l1 gentleman? 

d you ar,und to andoli room in 1.04th street; 

did. you oaround. w,tti, rt and three 

Did be show that one too? -A Yes, 

be showed us all. these 



NT4 MITITAR: 1 object t 

mmaterial and irrelevantl 

Objection overruled; 

Did you aso them .look in his trunk, in. Blandali 

Yes air; three men - and. Mr* Butts. 

that where these pictures czmie -from? •A r 

CROSS EMINATIOIT BY -1.M.MIItER 

What is your first name? 

q_-How old are you? 

Q There are you., up in the Oh 

Q Arc you there .with your Easter? 

Q- Have you and-your sister talked aboU b this, Case?.• 

have you talked Over this 

A I didnit tell Rosie, I told them. 



Did he :tiay etnythitig about. these pictUrga 

ir. 

You knew nothing .about the pictures until you were 

asked. by the district attorney?, 

Q. Who (c311.oige"d you the. pictUres?:. 

Q The. defendant? A Te.a eiV* 

o you go 40 Sunday school? .A No 

0, You go tO.PUblic -schOol* don 

q now long have you been going to public school? 

always go to school. 

--Blandoli- never did -e,,tv tohing to you did he? • 

He did something- to you? A Yes* s r* 

-Do you mean that? A The, sin he took me on his 

Q That, is all? 

Q

 

He took you On his lap? A Yes* s'ir." 

Q. Well how often have you been over there 

Q. .What do you mean by saying ha took you on his la 

You just sat on his lap and. did, nothing* is that what you 

Did be do anything? A Put 

Q Did, you over tell anybody about 

q 3)i.d. he ever give you' any money 



A Teas. sit4* 

How much? A 25 bent and. 10 4 

15 and 10? A Tea, sin, 

you wirer see him give V.a.ry Pollack s;ny money 

and.. 10? A -Yee, s 

money bu t,, she d" dn t show the money t 

(110 at-is:vier 

• 
Q She did. not show it to y ua did. she? 

times she went by  he rslet; she dn t take anybo 

You dont t ,know what took place 

•herself, do you, you were not th—erei 

Oents? A Yesy sir.; semetimes. he used. to 

Q Was that the most he ever -gave. her* 

more he used to give Mary 50 tents" 

How many times did you ever sme him. give 'Mary 

cents?A Net „a. lot of tipes. • 

ifot a lot of times?.. A go, sir* 

Were you there every 

And Rosie was t..ere? 

often to 11141:0 



didn't ea So :very. often? 

But you and :Mary went very often? 

• 'Q Were you with Resta when -he and i_lary•weive 

Christmas day? • A Yes, air. r 

What time did you go there? 

Q 5 oc1ock? A Yes sir. _ 

Was that the first time' you nt there? A Sometimes 

we went a. little later! 

Q On -Christmas day what was the first time. you wen 

there Chris Lmas day? -A I c t remember what time -we ,went.. 

q. How many times were you there that days Lour or 

six .bimes that day? A Two times 

Qfr You were there LwiOe that day? A Th0, air, 

9, VIThen was the fire L time? A The first time he Was net 

Q, Was that the morning or afternoon? •A, Xn •the . morning. 

Airv. 

time of the afternoon was it you' went 

late,.moon we nt  before night. 

what time? A About 6 otc:Lockf 



0.-

;Then the only: i.m 

and Reeve ,was there was i.n 

night?  .1" 

.Sure about that? A Yes, sir. 

Q. That is , as true as anything you havestated, is it 

Yes,.sir. 

Trh-o-se were the only wo times you were in Blandon 

rooms? .A Yee, .S3.. 

you were there. with. Mary PoUaolr 

the •morning and at 6 OtClOk at 

Q That day? A., Biro-

g, .Clarittracto? A Tes, far. 

Now, when you got there at 6 clock with Rosio 

Mary Pollack, did you knock at the doOr?-- A rep, sir. 

Q' Blandon cams to the door/ A Yeti sox. 

QHe let you in? A Yee sir,". 

Q, Well, what was the first thing that you eavtz there, ;-

what was done? A Well he had. a Christmas' tree and.. things 

around and everything so then there was my brother, he rah 

in; my brother savt us, the way we went in and he ran but. 

Mr. BlandOli closed the 'door because he saw the ladies lOok; 

So then my-- we wanted to hide ourselves and My brother caught 

me. Mary ran away so he ran aftor. them and took them home. 

You went into Blandon's rooms about .6 o'clock, 

was a Christmis tree there? A Yee, air4 

Q You and Rose and Mary Pollack were toge-

itne ,,A. Yee, sir. 

Then- your brother ran in/ 

• 

there 

US, 

•*0... 



in  bxother outsiü, we were going togo in. Ur 'brother 

saw ,u0..outwicleu we were going to go e &i4 riot 'go in:: 

but Wetted ti  ,go 1114 

q, Your 'brother saw you''.outtideT. ea air. 

He saw you wanted to go into 331.ando1i 

it? A_Test- air. 

Q, Did you go in Illandoli rooms? A Not because, 

Ay brother he was there 

Q You never were in 131ando1its ro oms) were you? 

Chris-thas day? A ITO, 

Q, You ran out) didn, t you? A My brother caught me 

in the hall and Mary and Roeie ran away. 

Q, At your own house or Blandolita 

Q, 'Were you ever in Blandoli a. room at al3,..? 

Q You told me you -we-re not. A. Yee, -

(1.:. What did you mean by saying you ,ffere not ln his 390,123. 

On Christmas day? A aristmas day we wanted 

t we didn't go because  our brother was "outside; 



Di411 t you say you saw him gilt Mary on the b 

lie on her, what day was that? A That was the day before 

The day befere Christmas? 

BY MR. 

Q You. are not absolutely sure of the dates 

you saw him lying on  the bed.? A Yesi' fie* 
Q;• You know yo-D. were 

There was a Christmas tree when you were th.ere? 

A Yest sir. 

(I Is that right? A- Yes, Ear. 

Q, Then af fa rwards your brother f ound -y 

.that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q Then you ran away, but you had. been in the room 

fore that? A Before that, yes, sir* 

BY MR. MiliT4R: 

Q, When was the last time you were in 4fldOW$.hC 

u iri the hal 

Q Well on Christmas night you did‘not go Into 

apartment, did you? -A We wanted to go in but We dirt not. 

q You were there with Mary Pollack, weren't y9u, and 

you were With your sister, Roeie, and you never went into his 

apartment Chri8tmaa night? A' Vie want to goN.but we (lid not. 

-Q Did you go in? A No, sire 

bc *re that vault was the time you wont into his 



artmair A Te day before Christmas. 

Q The day before Christmas? 

Who waswftii you then? A Mary and. Rosie-. 

Q who else? 'A And. me, only us thr 

That was the day before Christmas? 

Sure about . that? A Yes 4 a tr4,-

What ime of day was that? A That iiris early 

what time. .-

4 10 or 11 o:tclock? 4 I can't rememb r. 

Q Was it 9 o'clock was it before dinner, do y 

whether it was before dinner, was it 10 o'clock or 9-

A No, sir. 

You are pbeitive you acre ,not there Christmas day, 

'Mary P 1.1aok waun't. ciith you and yotlz, oLvtar Boale was 



nOt wi.th 

33T

 

M. TiviopcRi 
You re there on. Monday, .was -it?: A Monday.. 

. 'Monday Was i -that • you taw. 4IandOli 'lying on to 

it was ?olio% o atinitay, can you remember that / 

You do remember you were .there with the two girls. 

and. that you saw him lie on Marry POilaok? A Yes, s 

Move up and down ? A Yes, 

There was a Christmas tree in the room 

And some day: after that it was that your brother was 

in the hall and you didn't go in? A Yes, air* 

Is that tight? 

BY MR. MISR: 

Q But you know what time it. was don' t,you4it 

know what time of day it was? 

You don't know? A No, sir. 

Q Well then this time that' you say you; 

ant lay upon Mary Pollack. were you there at that 

41 Do y 

be told us t 

tim0.4 4ayth 



q Now at the ttme you were there with Mary Pollack and 

you were there with Your raja ter, Roe ie waren' t you? 

Q, You went -into the apartment of Blandoli? 

Q Now, what took place, the first thing, What was 

Did he take Wiry Pollack into a room, in. the back room? 

In the second room, in •the isecozid room was 

In the bed.? A Yes, sir‘ 

A Did he first go with. Mary Pollack 

Pirst he silid if she wan 4- to go on the bed:* 

A, Who did. he say that to? A. To Marys 

Q The first thing he Said was to Mary, he wanted her 

41, Did Mary go on the bed? A Yes, sir* 

Q, Then afterwards- did your sister Itoeis get on the 

bed.? A Yes, sir* 

Qt After he had. been in the back room w th Mazy PollaOkt, 

wasn't it, at the time? 

Q Row, where were you, in the front room? 

door between the front* and ba k room? 



4.acr shut 

The door was shut?. 

1 All that you fsaw was Mary and Blandoli go in the 

batkroom then tbOY abut the door, is 

Q Positive about it? A Yes, 

Q That is the "truth? A Yes; sir.. 

Q You know the difference between telling the  tvuth. 

d telling a lie, don't you?. A Tea, sir.. 

Q, You have been told that at home, haven't you 

to these 12 gentlemen -On this jury, don't you? A Yeas 81 

Q And that is the absolute truth What you have just 

said; is it? A Yes) sir. 

Q That Mary and Blandoli went into the room, the shut 

the door, and then your sister ROse wont in afterwards and 

shut the door, and in the meantime you stakdou4.on the 

sofa in the front rood? A Yes, sir. 

Do you understand what the lawyer saying to you? 

All / want to get is the—truth. 

THE COURT: You have been over 

MR 'STRYKER: I want to see -11- she understandA 



ilhat Ivirant.'t 

top of Mary/ A Y 

Did.- you ape, that? A Yes, sir. 

Q Then you could not see- through the  door,  

(No aniawer)  

You could. not s.ee. through the door, could you, 

through the 'wall could yOu?; A 
F. 

Ou sor Blandon en 

room where it happened? 

I sir; there was two rooms. 

Q Was, the door shut so that you could. not a 

A There was no door_ in the middle* 

Q When you-say a doer do you mean a doorway 

There is an entrance between the rooms? 

In COURT: She says there was no door. 

q, You saw what .happened? A Yes, sir* . 

BY TIE COURT: 

Q Aere was an opening 'between the rooms?' 

CI What covered that opening if anything? 

BU .T T - a witness 9alled on'behalt 

the Peoples being duly aworn, testified aS 

(Th.e witness atAtes that he livoi at 297 4th avenue. 



tAECT 4tAMPATION BY MR.: STRIMBR 

3utte,- what ia your bUsinesies. A Special officer 

for the New York Society for i2ie Prevention of Cruelty to 

'Children. 

Q.

 

You have been. connected with  that sea iety ,for abou . . 

girl Bella who just left the stand I A Yes', sir. 

Q Did she go with you at any time to the premises 

East 104th street any time after Christmas last l'..efir? 

mrraWR: 

releirant and imm.aterial. 

THE COURT: I will allow that. 

iR.STRYNOR: She has already testified. she did. 

Q Did. you go into a room thab -as shown to YOU as 

The room was pointed out as being his room? 

MR. MILLER: I object to that as ncompeten 

your flonor please. I cannot see the relevancy of this 

testimony as binding upon the defendant. 

113 $TRWER: I am going to prove 



H4R.:MITnra: 

On what floor was the room you went ,into? 

ground  floor. 

THE COURT: You will have to call the hc 

, TIR._STRYKER: Shall I call her now? Z 

s the better order. 

THE COURT:; This witne 

the People, being *duly sworn) testified as follows:• 

DIRECT MCAUINATION BY MR. STRR 

(The witness etateei she lives at 64 East 104th street 

Q, Madam, do you know this defendant at the bar? 

Q, That floor were -they on lOoti 

Was it the parlor floor? A Tea, sire 

*- g That is known as the parlor and the room behind, the 

arlor? A. Yee) sir. 



A tall man. Do you know him 

Q Did 1s come to your house ome 

with a little gi 1? A. Yes, air. 

Q Did you show him the defendant's room? 

That is you took hith into handolits room'? 

Were you thero when they Iced in. the 

Did. you recognize that trunk as Blandolll 

As the de fondant! a trunk? A YOo it 

MI1ALERi I want to ask Your Honor t 

that the answers 'of this witness be . stricken out on 

the ground that the* conversation which the "officer 

waa in the absence of the defendant., 

THE COURT:.. Why if there is any conVersatioT1 it ma 

be 'stricken out. I did not hear any conversation. 

MR. STRYKER: I did not ask for any coriVersation. 

Q. On what floor did he live? v 



dir live ihere with him.? 

and. three children. 

Q But in his rooms, who lived2 

lived all alone? 

q Did yibu, see officerr.Butts in that 

-paw 1.1,urt u DaY Plia00 On Thursday. 

q You saw officer Butts in. your Place 

:Ran? A Thuriday. 

•.Last Thursday? IV NO, the following 

that Mr. Taandoli was tan out of the r 

Q, bid you point out to Mr.-Butts:an article--

thing with Mr. Butte? I I didn't do .anything t 

Q Dia you see him do anything? A Ile oillet. 

to Show him the defendantrs roam. 

Q Did. you 'show -it to him? .A 

thurp day 

Q You-were not with him at the room? A I081-'sir. 

-Q You saw officer Butts go into hii room? A Yes, 

OSS EXAMINATION BY MR. =VAR: 

Q That is all you did? A Yes, a 

Q You pointed out the room of this defendant? . 



That la all you did aea? A Yes/ sir. 

BY 'Zit COURT: 

Did you go. in with him? 

'BY' MR, STATOR,: 

see e. trunk there? -A, Yes, 

I was there When they opened the 

Did you a Oe what they found, in the trunk? 

Q I don' t want you to look at these thing8. now 

are too filtb.y. Did you ieethe pictures they took. out? 

Nasty pie ureS? A Yes) sir; they •were :Looking a 

BY MR. MILLER: 

Q Who .was there beside you? A Nobody but my two 

little children. 

Q, And officer Butts? A Yea, that s all. 

Q They opened. the trunk? 

;Us one o4', the Rottenberg girls tnere? 

Q, Can t you kep ui-mind who VMS the 'le age tela 

tao people 440 %pre in that r tiou re;aodber it? 



A Mr, Butts IMO in the  room .and. the 'little gizle. 

Q. Thab little girl? A Bella Rottextborg. • 

Q And. you too? A 

And. your two ohi\ldren? A Yes, sir, 

Q , Anybody else? A Three de te o tives • 

9, Three o the r de tee tiva a? - -A tea, sir, 

Do you know their names? A ITO, sir, 

(4, Any one else that you think of? A That is all. 

• bringing in a trunk into the house? A No air'' 

Q, ThOr old not bring anything into the hpuse 

did. no t bring anr thing into the house 

You let them in the room? A. Vest sir, 

Opene d 'the door for them with a key? A 

hav43 you known hie defendant? A 

could not. exactly say. 

Ile was one of y '612 r tenants? 

are the .1 ous cite epe r? A Yes 

Q Do you know other people that 3:n or/ 



Q What was his rep,uta;ti n •for mor$3.ity there while 

lived with you, (10 you know what his reputation Was? - 

They ali-tespected him highly. 

What was it  go-ad or bad? 

BY MR* STRIKERt 

thing about the visitors that 'he: had to that root? 

talk to .people about his- reputation?, A ,Yes, •8 ir* 

• Q That others said about him? A Yes, sir* 

Q Did you ever talk about who mine to see him 

that room? A Who came to zee him? 

Q Yes. :A. There was people, his friends* 

Did, you ever bear It said who it was that cam 

You knew, sometimes didn't you? A. Yes sIre 

sometimes, not always. 

Q Did. you hear it discussed that little g1x'la cable 

Q You heard that discussed when his reput tion was dis-_ - 



Did. the neighboro• know about these p iAtured fotth 

in hi trunk when they said. his reputation was 

them about when I heard. of it. 

And they sti3,1 thought his reputation was good.? 

They didn't think no more about it. 

BY MR. STRY1011: 

Q, You. didn. t hear his reputation praieed'verY 4 
after they found these pictures in his trunk? A No 

calmed the stand,, 

BY R. 8T1••=11: 

mre already sworn? A Yes iv oiz 

ave ce.icl you were an offieer for the Society 

lia77.: 'been connected with it for 8 years 

ha premises 54 East )04th street ,A Yes, sir; 

Q, Do. you remember the day you 'went Viers?. A:. X X 

can't recall exactly the day without referring to a merabrapidum 

THF 00,1111T: Have you got anything to refer tO?. 

THE ES: Yes, sir, I can refer to the corn.* 

plaInt there I. it ias on the day that the defendant Was 



If there 1 anything tilt will: refresh your memory. 

Will the 'complaint-retredh your memory? I. show you the 

complaint before the magistrate. look at that and. slap if. 

your recollection will be re fre she d?., 

Q Is that the d.ay you went there to the difendant'a 

Yes,, air.; December 28th 1911. 

Was the room of the defendant pointe'd out 

(ilo answer) 

Q. You went to the defendant's room? A 

Who else was there? A Of. cer XrUse 

from the de te c tive bureau. 

Did -she point 

, Yea,. air. 

of the defendant t 

9, Web it on the ground floor. 

The parlor? A Yes, sir, parlor and an a.r1cove room 

endanti s room 



these -pictures, running fro* 1 te 

look at them carefUllY P1eai4,:add.tsl; us if you found -those 

;pictures in-the-Asfendantts trunk? . A lies', sir! 

BY THE COURT:-

Q Did you ever see those pictures befor0A Yen, -

A t have had them in my custody* 

Since the 28th of December? 'A Yes 

BY MB. STRYKER: 

(1 You produced them in court today and handed them t 

you personally had 

A Yes, sir.. 

Butts, this defendant was not there:at the time', 

Q, You went there in pursuance of certain in.4'ormatil 

eceived? A Yes, air. 

You had a talk with these girls before you 



BY MR. MIT:Talt: 

-Q Ar1Ln pu,rsuanoe of that 'act 

s defendant? 

Q Is that it2_ 

Q There was peintett out in "that room a certain trunk, 

wasn't there? 

Q, By Mrs. Beatelli? A By the girl* Bella Rottenber 

Who pointed it out, the• girl or Mrs 

The girl. 

Q Did Mrs. Bestelli say anything to you/ A Anything 

regarding the trunk?. Nothing regarding the 

She did not sa Lnything regarding the _trunk? 

opened the trunk? A Detective 

Q, Well he had certain keys, bad. he 

Q Do you know what keys they *ere? 

key fitted. the trunk, that is all. 

Did you see him, et the keyz fro 



youQ Wore  there when pictures wore actUally tike 

out of the trunk? 

Did you sae these -pictures taken out of 1he trunk? 

Now who took t1 'PictUres out of the trun4? 

detective 14ultini I Ot004 by his side. 

What part of the trunk were the pictures in? A In 

q In the to tray? A Yes, sir. 

Q Were they in any book? A No, s 

Were they exposed? A 1r4:3i sir. 

- 40 What were they in were they in an envoi pO? 

A Yes, sir; a small pamphlet in Italia 

Were they in between the pages of this pamphlet? 

MR. STRYKER: bare is the pamphlet now. 

By MR. STRYKRR: 
Q Is this it? 

BY MR MILLER: 

Were they in between:folded In between the pages, 

were they not? A I think they laid on top of them; 

You are not positive? A No 

Q They 4ave been in your custody over since? A Yes, 



0044C; 

. the .taking of pictures from a trunk found. in the apart 

ment of the defendants. Bland°lit which pictures .have 

been used. as exhibits before the jury in this '-caEle 

the ground. that thepiatures were not _found in the physi. 

posasssion of the defendants 

Motion denied; exception 

THE COURT: This evidence is only offered. 

roboration of the girl's story,. that is al 

MR. 1(ILLER: To which I respectfuily excep-

BY TM. STRYKER: 

Q Did you see these other things, Officer? A Yes, 

MR STR1ER: I ask that they be marked for identi-

THE WITNESS: I went right over '0 the - tqti on 

house and asked for an envelope and I put them in an, en.... 

• velope. 

(The envelope referred to is marked People's EZ71. 

.b.ibit 6 for identifcation.) 

Q You say that was an alcove room? A it is what I-

an alcove room, a front parlor and a back parlor) there 

is no doors a recess, some call it a recess room... 
BY THE  COURT: 

Q There was a swingX door there" A No air; no 

Q Portieres hanging 



Q: Whatla. Thin ones 0 

Do you mean linen? A Tea,- sit 

Not heavy silk ones or velvet ones? 

just across the corner, not covering the whole apace, just 

draped. across in this manner (illustrating). 

When you went there -these were  up there? 

9, You could. see from the front room into the back room 

without any trouble? 

14R. STRYKER: The People reat. 

- THE COURT: Haw many witnesses have you.? 

Tbut 1 expect his examination will take some tline.. 

That is the defendant. I shall :,Akake a ma ion now that 

the People have rested, and that is that the VecOnd 

count,in the .indiotment, be taken from the ItAry. 

--MR. S-TRYiER: Your Honor will see that,the second 

and third counts charge rape in the firet 'degree but 

charge it not by force but that it_was done because: of 

her immaturity in not then offering resistance to the 

act because of ilex' immaturity. The first- count e440 

that by reason of her youth and ignorance being thou and. 

there unconscious of-'the act. I think :on those,grpunde 

the second and. third,counts, are auntaine1. 



to renew. I will give ,it further consideration. 

Do you want an dj ournment now?, . 

R. MIXER: Well I am ready to obey the "order of 

Court.  

'PRE COURT: It is now 29 minutes after 4 and the 

examination_will take "Tcme time? 

MR MIIIER: I don't think we could conclude it... 

by 6 o'clock, the examination of this defendant .e.n. 

summing up-. The cross 'examination of the defendan.t-
---1; , 

I an tIcipate this defendant will be on the stand quite 

a while,., yout Honor. 

.C.E6 COURT: • Well- I think we had, better adjourn Until 

Monday morning at half-past 10. Gentlemen of the jury, 

the court will take a. recess now until Monday -morning 

at half..pae t 10. Meanwhile be extremely careful not 
to 'discuss the case among yourselves or with anybody 

else and, if anybody attempts to talk to you, about it 'not-

ify the Court. You must not visit the scene •ef this 

alleged occurrence nor come to any donclusiOn as to the, 

guilt or innocence of the defendant until yOu, hear the 

evidence on both sides and until the easels submitted  

to you by the Court for your decision. That is the 

time for you to make up your mind and, not before.. 

(The Court then adjourned the further trial of the 

case until Monday 'morning, Feb. 19,- 1912. at 3.0..30. 



BRANDOLit 

• UM: I will take the first count from the 

jury except in so far as the allegation of time and place. 

is concerned. 

sideration of the jury the second count in the indictment. 

THE COtJT: I will submit it to the jury_on rape 

the se,cond degree. 

MR. MILLER: Excluding all the other 

to make a paxticular 

point of this your Honor, but it would seem to me that 

under the allegations of the second count charging rape 

the second degree, riot offeiing resistance by r easorl of. 

her immaturity Might be submitted., 

I don't make any special point oeit 

but it would seem to me 

THE COT.IRT. The girl was thirteen years of age and. 

she vras a girl of considerable intelligence as shown by 

my own examination. She was fully aware of what she was 



t to the jury as rape in the Second degree. 

MR MILLEitt That is excluding 41 the Other counts? 

TEM, WURTC Assault 'in the second degree and abdUc-. 

tion will be eubmitted. that iW 411 the counta charging t . 

rape in the first degree are withdrawn from the consideraP. 

tfon -:c?sf. the jury. 

MR, MILLER: Now I ask your Honor to direct the jury 

to acquit the defendant on- the ground that the people have 

failed, by legal proof, to, prove the A.bibb alleged in the  

indictment beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Motion denied; exception. 

Mr. Millet opens the case on behalf of the defendant. 

ICHO L ASDEL AG a witness called on.behaif of the' 

defendant, being duly sworn, testified as f011oW0 

(The witness gives his address as 114 Center Street 

Mr. Delagi, what is. your business? A I an an attorney, 

An attorney and counsellor at law? A Yea, sir* 

bu13;* admitted to practise in the courts of this State? 

Yes, sir. 

Q, Where is your place of business? 'A.1-14 -Center Street. 

EA Do you know the defendant in this • action. Brandoli? - 

• Q How long have you known him? A 4ieut four. 

1).o you know other people that know him? A 



Have You, conllirsed w.th t4cii! People but his 

He has been reOomMended to you? A Yes, sir* 

Vib.at relation did he bear to you A He was a teacher 

0: mine* 

Q For what? A -Latin. 

MR. STRYKKR: I obj ect to this..The witness is not 

competent to testify concerning his reputation or 

rality. ,He said he never discussed it. 

11R. MILLER: 

Q, What is his general reputation? A Very good. 

Q He was your teacher of 1.atin? 

He has said that once. 

Q Weren't you retained by him as attorney 

A Now sir; X vias not. 

You were not? A 11'9, sir; I refused ,to take hitt 

He asked you to take his case? A Yes# sir. 

You would not take his case? A Yes).sr 

You turned his case down? A I did not turn it d 

Q You did not reffise is: oral!' 



Bra I4  hoW old are you? A 6. 

Q. Where were you born? A Italy* 

When did you arrive in this country? 

Q, What was your business in Italy before yOU. arrived 

A I was a bookkeeper* 

Q, Do you spea,k several languages? A Yes,. sir. 

Q, What are they? A French, Italian, German and. Latin 

and a little Briglish*, 

Now in addition to being a bookkeeper have you at 

different times given instrugtions? A Yes, 

Q, In the families of your countrymen? A Yes sir:, 

ct In those different languages that you spoke of?: 

CI, Where were you living about a year ago laOt XanuarY2 

A 129 East 103rd streets 

Q, How long did you live there? A Eight or ninemouths. 

Q V/here did: you move to from Ea et 103rd street? A 54)•. 

at the time you we 



Do you know-Rosie Rottenberg? A Yes, air. 

'There did you first meet Bells and. •Rosie Rott\enberg? 

A When I moved. into that house at 103rd, street* 

Q How did you come to meet them there?, 4 

explain to you, 

THE COURT: Do not haite any 4iousSion with the 

Put the question again, How did you come to 

meet Bella and Rosie Rottenberg? A ,An /talian gentleman 

asked. me, a friend of Mine asked me to take care of some em*. 

broidery to occupy myself in his behalf, because -he could 

do it, and in the house were these girls who w)are occ.up*ed with 

_ that line of business and they were daughters of the janitress 

and, consequently., th,ist workingman used to send these girls 

to me as a messenger for work. 

Q, Where were you- working at that time?. k Sometimes 

used to be a bookkeeper but not steady. 

Q, Where were you working at the time you first met Bella 

and Rosie Rottenberg? A Sometimes- I used to work in Mr Deli 

cioss and sometimes I used to work in the daytime for Mr: 

Sachs, because,_I was with Sachs five or six Y6ars keeping hie -

Q Bella and. Rosie Rottenberg met you in 

103rd street because they omne there to seg, some people .about 

embro&dery, is: that it?- A The reaSon Why they came there was 



this, bocauøathey were. friends With the daughter and the on 

of the lancaady of the house* 

They- were friend-s the dauhter o the landlady 

son in the 3;toU8e? A- Yes sir; Mrs, _Lang. 

•remember exactly when -'two or three months !ie I met thiit• 

girl* 

Q Who introduced laary Pollock to :,,rou? 

Bella Rottenberg? A Yes- sir 

Mere was -that? A 103rd street., 

Q Where were you living when..na j Pollock. avad Rose 

Rottenberg -- tell us where you were living the last. time 

you E18.17 Bella Rottenberg and liary,Pollock? A 54 Z4st I04th 

How long ater you left the prem,i.ses in  103 

and moved to 104th street did you see Bella Rottenb erg and 

Rosie Rottenberg ,and•Mary Pollock? A Abotit five or nine months,. 

Iiine or ten months? A Yes, sir. -

Q, How did you come to lacet them i:-i the premisees IX 3.04th 

Q, When? A A few -months as 

Q, HOW long Prior to the 25th of Deaember did they come 

to the- premises :In 104th street? A '2wo months before. 

Q o. vii4 wore th aircums ames =mar raic,. they came there . 



r.e.hey used to come soMetimeti f r a short period to at*: 
for five or ten cents to go to the moving plCturp*,.. 

Oho was with MarY-l'olloc at the time she cane :to the 

premises in 1().4th street.* the first :time? Rosie 

What time of the day was it that they oame'there? 

used to come only an Sundays at two ofcloOkl, three er four 

o'clock, whenever they found me there. 

Do you remember the night that Mary Pollock and 

•Bbsie Rottenberg came to your premises, your apartments and 

stayed all night? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now what were the circumstances under whidh they came 

A They came there it was about half past ten olclecik 

they, came praying and begging to let them sleep in the next 

Q. Wel they stayed there that night, didn't they? 

Then they came two hours afterwards to MB again -and Said 

they were afraid to go home and they wanted to sleep thert* 

(1, What did you do then? A They insisted to sleep on 

the lOunge and I said nolnI rather get out of bed and dress 

self and 1 will sleep on the lunge!'. They Vent and slept 

on the lied., I dressed myself and then I went myself -- dressing 

myself completely up to my collar and tie and everything corn.-

plete then went. in the next roam and slept 

Did they sleep in your bed.that night? A Yes sirl 



;44 

1057' 

they -Slept th theywerewholly dres0046 

,Q What time did they leave your apartment 1ilef4'00.1tort10, 

the A Ae I could not  sleep that n.,.ght at daylight .1.: woke 

them up and sent them home. 

Q, what tttne in the morning was that*? A Vive o'clock 

or six o clock* 

Q Now, did you give them anY rieney t1Iat 

A I think I gave them fifty :cents* 

CZ, They rent hone? A I gave them the fifty cents so 

that they could have a cup of coffee. 

.Q Men did you next see Rosie Rottenberg and. Ilexy 

Pollock? A Never saw them • again L---* 

, Q Do you remember the 25th day of DeceMber 1911? 

A Yes, sir.. 

That was Christmas Day 'wasn't? A Ices* sir* 

ere you home all day Christmas Dar? A • O.D1 e 

cePt a half an hour: when I went to lunch. Can I soar w 

the morning a nephew of the landlord's said his 'aunt dead and 

I had to p:o to BrOoklyn and instead of thast.I stared home 

and play& with the children of the aunt. 

q Did you have a Christmas tree in your room? A It 

beloned to the landlady of the house. 

Answ-r he question? A Yes, sir. 

Did Jou have C, tmas tree in rour room? A Yes sir. 

t see Bella Rottenbetg Or Marr Tollock 

Rosic notxeriberr, on flh 3,Str136 Day') A did *not see than 

COO 



Jr 

that morning at al/ exdePt At the eeurt*e xast suisou 

Q Did you meet Ro&e Rottenherg Rotteriberg or 

Mary P 13:ock in .yoi apartment on the 25th day Of.Decerm.b.eri 

A No, sir, except, Mary 1)01100k/came that same„night; wited 

to ent ex' my. room*.•• 

Q, What tlan.e of" night was it? A- iralt past eleven 

twee o'01001  

Was she with ailylYody 'or was she aims? A ,434 alOne, 

Q, vaiat did she tie when Tabe ostle to your apartment at 

h'Sait past eleven? A I did not eves open the door ;*. I .SheUted 

to her to go ettt 41 Lon't want to have any griefs or troubls'iket 

i‘way.froM. here, I sent her away without even opening iby door, 

BY THE 

Q, Do roi w.sh ,an interpreter or no I t? A Yes,  

wish an interpre 

BY Nilt, MIZLY3/411: 

Q What took place . when Nary P 11ook osme to your 

merit at hie 

ro, 

fit.Par 

pat 'ea,eVen the night of Christraat? A I chased -

her away because I cU.6nt want to even open the door, didn t 

want any trouble.) I told her to get away and I told her hence-

forth she must never come again to my deer. 

Q, Did you see Rosie Rettenb erg and RottaAberg that 

A I did not Bee them except in he emir 

Q, I sm aski 

BY TEE COWL. 

q Mristmas 

g you tha day* 

A sir* 

n 
_Are] 



Q Did. ynz at .any time Over take 4o$4 .11.0tehberg. 131 your 

back ' rOan and . haVe her to submit 't0 any indignities ab Yolir 

4aridp?, Al 10 

q bid you take 'Mary Pollodk into YOlar 1044 roomi:and'-

--_,_ 

have her submit to any indignities at your hands? A tIo,. sir; 

never done anything likethat 

q Are you, physically capable of consummating any aCt of 

sexual' intercourse? , 

I object to that on 

the question is not competent. 

• A If you wish to examine me now you will find out. 

•(1 How long since you attempted to have sexual inter* 

course with any person of the ,OpPosite see A Two rears ago 

ttiad Jit with a widow and She told me "Never again' for YOU 

are not capable of doing anything." 

Q Now explain to the jury about these pictures that 

have been introduced on behalf of the People as a. part- of - 

their exhibits in this case? A Mr. Morell went to Europe a 

year ago and gave me a present —.two years ago he went away 

and he presented me with a suit of clothes and a basket full 

of books. I had these books some time and then at the end 'Or 

I took them out of the basket, put. them  in my trunk. It wag 

me kihst of prenoh and Italian romances in these bookS, .4144 

three or four months .ngo- a son of the 'banker7ruaOf.: establish d 



a club where I am employed, and he asked. me whether I had any 

• .:bOOktc for .tbe.. library of 

.ing elae to do and I pansacised this trunk . and-took..ont aXL 

I 'foUnd. out with alI these books  there is one book where'it 

indecent pidtures, an4 Xput it one side and I 

said, "The next time, I will have a chance I will destroy it by 

,burning it up." Then I brought these books to Mr. Brueofi and 

the pictures that these girls claim to have seen is nothing 

else but • a reproduction of some old 'paintings. Then these. 

girls will — you know how girls are they will look aroUndt 

they were looking at this book and immediately I noticed 

they were looking at these indecent pictures,. I snatched it 

away from the hand, 

0, I show you 'these exhibits and ask ,ro.1,1. 

ones? A Those are the ones. 

Q, That were. in the trunk in between the leaVes of the bo. 

it? A. There is another one there I would like to.soe. 

THE' QOM: They are reproductions ,of old paintings‘ 

THE WITNESS: The ones that the girls saw 

production of pictures that are in the liuseuin of Art. 

Q, They were in your trunk in addition to .tO5c pictures 

were they not? A No, sir; they were not* 

Q They w2re cutd&e? A There 111 ther piece of Pcx7er 

31U 'er I would like to t 
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Thip is the ol13.y that Xat to take, Out from that ',eite.c...14ce 

rePrOductiO from the School of DeliZ#0 (referring , 

Exhibit 7) 

THE COMM: This WAO not introduced in evidence. 

THE nuns: This 'is from the School of Delizzioi, 

THE COURT: Do you wisb. -to introduce it in evidence? 

co, perfectly 

(The picture referred to is marked, Peoplets Exhibit 

Q You say that is a mere reproduction from some book? 

A Yes sir; this is a reproduction from a bookii—antfigIish 

Tt was in your trunk with the others? 4 Yes* sir; 

I had. placed them there expecting to burn them up, to destro 

• Q, Nowt did, you ever show those pictures to Mary Polo 

or Rosie Rottenberg? A Never* 

Q When. did you first see Mary Pollock after 



(4, Does the clerk have brains enough to mark the• correct, 

1.111.4 MILLER,: / hope so* 
•THE COWIT.; Well show him his 

•BY 11110 MILLER: 

Q Is this your signature? A Yes, sir* 

Q, Ask him if that is his signature? 

_ Q, And the date you wrote that 'Lyou saw Mary P011ock' 

court? A Yes, sir; that day. 

41 Then you can see the date on it if you ,like? . A Yes) 

the 28th of Decembeis, 

Q Where were you arrested, at your apartment yes o'r n 

Yes, sir; at the time I was going to bed, 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. STR 

Q, What is your business? A Bookkeeper. 

-Q Have you made your living by bookkeeping in. the* years 

since you have lived here? A Yes, sir; and a; professor. 

Q Also a professor of languages? A Yea, sirs 

Q YoU are quite a fluent scholar in languages, are yoti 

Q Well you know enough about languages to have master's 
on 

Latin, Italian, Prench and German in additicyn to yonati 

tongue, iti that Bo? A Yee.Dir; / think 



Tot have lived in the United. $tateivfor ten yearn 

interpreter? .A I had made an agreement with my laWyer that 

I 'should have an interpreter because I might not understand some 

legal a8peots of the case. 

You thought it 'would be easier to ,crawl behind an 

interpreter than to come out and talk in the language. you under. 

stood? A Par better to 4, • under cover or an interpreter 

as I do not understand - you personally now  

Q You dontt understand. me now talking to 3rou9 

Q, How often aid these girls used to visit You? A 'Rarely 

because I vs always busy. 

Q: Now you have told us that .you knevf the girlsabout 

a year you have know them for about a year altogether,. pr 

little more , isn't that the. fact.? A More than a year,* 

Q More than a -year? A Yes, 

.Q, How many times Mr. Brandoli, would you say • give .us 

your best belief--of course you cantt know the exact number 
times 

of times, how many/would you say did Mary Pollock and the 

others visit you -at your .roomii? A I could not tell you that. 

Q Would it be twenty? A If they came there they didn't 

acne to me* 



Do you deny, Mr. Brand°la, that these girls had been 

n your rooms more than twenty .times? A Yes.) they must have. 

come more than twenty timea, 

They went there as many as forty times, Mr, B 

A Na,sir.; dictatt count them* 

. Do you deny that these girls had been 'II your 

- forty times? 

THE COURTI .He has answered that/ 

.1Q4 kWEIBIR: Very well I wontt prose it. 

THE COURT) He _said he did not count ,theM.-

Why did these girls came to your toogi.Vir. grandOlil. 

They didn't come '*ere for myself; they came there to play 

wtth the children of the landlord and Whenever ; was happete4-to 

be there they used to came upstairs tooi• 

Q Did the children of the landlord, Mt. Brand011 .live in 

Your room? A No, sir, they are in the next roam; 

Q. If they came to call on. '!..he children of the landlord, 

why did they dome to your roam? A They used to came and 

play with the children of the landlord, then they used to go 

my room and they used .to come in there. 

(I, What is that. landlady s name? A, Mrs.. Lang. 

Q Have you made .an efforts to have Mrs, Lang in 

o not know where  

• Or the childilen with Wham You , these girls came 



except when youwent OUt to lunch? 4Ths 

Q YOU, had a:Christmas tree there? A Yea 

q But 'nobody visited you that dmr. 

Q Why did you have a Christmas tree there? A It was the 

andlad3r0 Christmas tree She begged MA to put it in the 

front room*. 

Have it put in your room? A Yes, 

Now, Mr* B andoli, during the time that you knew these 

girls when kley oame to your room twehty times at least as you 

have said, did you never kiss one of them? A NeVer. 

Pld you never hold one of them ot your lap? A yea, 

in fooling I might. have done that,de 

Q You held eatfn one of them On your lap twenty.tiMes 

ndoli, didn't you? 

Didn t you use to take them on your lap and thow them 

these pictures, And say, "Isn,t that nice", that picture there 

People 1 s Exhibit I? A 

a copy of a famous painting, is it? 
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COTIRT: He told me they were all  copies :of far* 

mous paintin • 

BY MR. STRYKER: 

Q, Is that a copy of a famoue ainting? 

Q, I show yo chibit  6. Is that a copy of 

famous painting? A No, sir. 

• Q You used -to show them to them sometime, didnt 

NowPeople '13 

that a copy of? •A No, sir, no painting at 8110, 

Q, No painting? A Not sir. 

People's Exhibit 51 is that a copy ,of some painting  

in the Museum? A it, is a postal card cut in four )arts. 

9, Is that a copy of a painting yes or no? A .1To sir 's 

-Q, people's itchibit 2 how about that?: A Not sir. 

Q 'People's Exhibit  3 how ab.out that? A No Sir that 

is a postal card out up-0 

Q, So that no one of these exhibits from one to atZt 

one of these filthY Pictures is a copy of a paltating on 

your own statement? A Not sir, nos sir. The one that the girl 

saw was a reproduction of picture, . (Witness indicating) 

Q The girls never saw thee pictures? A Roisie and Mary 

Pollock never saw them. 



Never a aW them. at all? A 

BY MR STRYM: 

Q These pictures were kept where you kept all the othe 

pictures which your friend left you., weren't they? A 

they were altogether' in a box. 

$o if the girls found the box pey found  these too? 

A Yes„ sir; they were 8...0 together,, they were all. rolled up 

in a paper. 

Q In the trunk? A Yes, liCir; 

Q, In your trunk?. A Yes, 'sir. 

Q Now, soraetimes wouldn t the girls J4e on the b.Cd wit 

Why did you give these girls money, Brandoli? 

could not tell you -why; they used to ask me for fiVe 

Q And the night that they spent the night there in your. 

room you gave them fifty cents? A :Yes, sir; only that once 

to your room t1at night, all alone and friend:1*i 

you take them home to their parents instead of keeping %MO -there 

in your room? A How could I? I did. not know where they 

Dived, 'I used to chase them awaV*, 



You. did not, know where they allied? A 

DidnIt4ou tell us on your direct examination :that 

you had gone to find a tenant once arid -one of the girlf3 helped 

you find the tenant and she was the daughter of the lapal 

n that—place- '4.hat  you went to  A She was not the daughter 

of the landlady; they used to come and play with the chil 

dren of the landlady, 

Q Used to play with the children of the andlady? A Yea) 

Q That. is your answer? 

Q How about this book". This is the cover of it. 

ferring to Peoge's gxhibit 8 for identification) A They 

were altogether in that book; t hardly looked at them. 

Q Don't you know that that book is one of the rottenest 

that was over printed in the Italian language? A I know; that 

is the reason I put it at the bottom of my trunk. 

Q Don't you know that it is one of the filthiest, 

things that ever was printed? 

Q And a description of this rotten scene here thi 

it tells all about that in the'aook? A That I do not 

You have read that book 

Why it is so much used that it is all fal 



nraiidol4 who aid thoo A- .; do not 4uow. 

,.;?ta had. it in your TnisSeSsion anywayt, didn't you/ 

A It was given to 'me together with the package there. 

U had it in, your pessessieut 

Ilao RYM: / offer the book in., evidence together 

with the filthy ilictures that it cent aintl* 

(Harked People's ,Elchibit 

Brandolii. didn't You use to take 'this 149k an 

. take the little girls on your knee and put your bend up tindep-

their clothes and then read them the otter  dtrtY suriot in  

this book.) and sh'Owed them the fLlthY Pictures? 

THE COURT: Leave out the ramarktil* 

iga4 num: 1 will *ithdralv the adjecti,e01. 

Q Didn't you une to take :these chlidren on your knee 

and translate the stories im this bod1/4 to them/ -A That book 

wax never out of the trunk, -only one in'inute and 1. snatch04 it 

away from the hand. 

q You sriatached it' from whose hands? A Bella; the 

only that had it in her hands* 

(), Bella? 'It  Yes, sir; 

(1 But the other girl Mary Pollock was there at the ,time 

Bella had it? IL It was on a gunday when I woo looking in tht 

trunk for en Enelish gramnar that Bella pulls that book there an 

snatched it aray, from be:- hand.. 

Q. Dld you used to tell the parvnts of these gir14,Bran-
6 

01.11, that they: used tO. =Ma 10 your moms* Xd4 you toll the 



father or *other that you used to, entertain them J,n your. rooms) 

Q Did You ever teIl thern YBo no?" 

don't know who they are. 

:BY MR. STRYKER: 

•q After these girls began coming to you many tim 

did you ever make any attempt at all to find-outotheir parents 

to tell than about their girls? A I cUd not have any in-

Q. So you never told their parente 

never did so but I never knew them. 

Q Therefore you did- not tell then 

not know who they were. 

Q Did you spend very much time of the day or night 

trying to find out who they were? A, No, sir; because I wag-
) 

not doing anything wrong and they used to come there for a fe 

minutes* 

Q Mr. Brandoli you said That on Christmas Day You 

ed one . of these girls away because you didntt want at\3f grief V. 

and troubles or words to that effect didnct you? A, In 

t way. 



or trOter34, on that. day? A Beoanseithe, lady next door 

could have seen the gia in my room the ma be atiapicioue And 

Make.:.0.6me nasty remark*: • 

.AltiptIgh these 0 10 had been coming .tb.yOu for'PorS. 

than 'a year, more than- twenty visits,this was the firfru tiraq 

you seared. any .one sUOPici:04? A NO, because at 103rd-1treet. 

arranged with the landlady not to allow them near'rde*Th0 

three of .them would not COMB in but would stand under igr win 

dow and bother me under the window. 

Q Although you complained to the landad nevertheless 

when they continued to caue you continued to give them money 

for coming? A After for a -year and a ha.sit 

Q AU that time? A Yes, sir. 

with whom ygu attempted in.teeoD•e yo 

(1 You are not married to Mary Pollock? A. Not 

BY W. STR 

Q You never lifted up Mary Polloo ts dress at all,' 



320• , 

*Azi avotitten"4 the raglit. they .13.pent the night with YOU-4 ..'g`ett 

said  You got them out. at file\ ol.e1;00k in the morning?' A, 

cause I wanted, them to get and be in time to find, the .40org 

open of their apartment to get in. 

t you know the,reason You sent tliese 

at five olclock n the morning was because you knew it was ;wrong 
any one - 

to have them there that night, and you didn't want/to See that 

they had been there? • A I only 'received them out of ptt3r3 

Q, Out of pity? A, Yea, sir; I did not do anything 

Q, You never made the girls anygry?A. 'What for? 

Q Did you or did you not I say? A No , 

thing to them except be kind to them 

and. give them money? A No, Sir; whenever they used to• 

bother me to go to the moving picture show I always 'used to give 

thin five or ten cents." 

Q Did the landlord in 103rd street house have extY 

children? A Yes ir a boy and a girlo-r 

Q Did the children play with these girl arY Pollock 

and Ilene, and Rosie Rottenberg.— did. they play with the land.. 

lord. a children in 103rd street? A ..es but n 



If' You 4$•n 

long before that was it that you saw them last? A About 

'month and a half before, 

Q. Now, how did they ItnOw th`at you had a Christmat;tree 

in sour rooms? A Well, that I. do not know; they" h.ale 

seen it because it was at the window* . 

31TRORt A point of information*. 

TIal COURT: You must not have anything to say unless 

you wish to ask a _ question• 

Do you understand m.e« - When a witness is on the stand 

you may ask a question. You' must pass upon the etidence 

brought out before you and weigh that evidence in connobr 

tion with the law as it will be stated to you by the Court. 

There must not be any discussion now,' If there is _any wit,r 

ness on the stand of whom you would like to ask a. q,uestion 

or any withess that you would like to have recalled with 

the consent of both parties that witness maybe recalled* 

Yes, your Honor that is-what I wish. 

Do you wish a witness to be recaled?_ 



• THE CUURTI ecall. 

.THE 

Mr. Brandoli, 

THE COURT': Any objection? 

MILLERt NO ob'epti On.* 

THE 2IFTH JUROR.: 

Now the first time you Met these girls Ur. Brand04.1 

you have any opinion about them* whether they are good -or. bad: 

A -I did not forth any opinion but later ori /..fOulid that tella 

with her, -you had seen her? A Then I talked with the land", 

and I told her to prohibit her from coming in the 

BUT T Sit a witness called on beh 

ple, reaalled. 

• Q, You had this girl in the Society's oharges*oetiie 

28th of December last? A Yes) sir* 

• Q, Were these children permitted .to m ngle with one at 

other while in your charge or are they kept separately?. 

A The two girls Mary Pollock and Rose Rottenberg 

department and. /he other child. is in another. 

- Q The younger one in another? A Yea, air* 

Q Are the father and mother oi those children allowed 



'Oo See them? A Ye s a week* 

Q, Th,ey are allowed to oOnverse with these Philareh 

(Testimony closed* 

Miller closes the case on„behali 

:Stryker ciOses the case cn-behalf of the 2.00ple# 



of the jury: 

ape in the first degreelthe,criTe.of-rape in the .secqnd 

degree, the crime of assault in the  second degree, 

ney, taken from your consideration the crime of •apef in 

the first degree, because that crime involyes elements 

which have not been established. 

count of rape in the1 second de-

gree and abduction. e of assault in the second 

degree is also taken from your consideration 

this defendant has not been proven guilty to your satis-
or . 

'faction, of rape in she second degree,,ahduci then he 

isnot guilty -of any crime. 

The- count charging rape in the sic ond degree: alr 

leges that the day and n the year mentioned :in the.  

BorouLOJ of  :Uanhattan, County of New York' he feloniously 

made an assault Upon Mary Pollock., who was a ale, not

t the said Mary Pollock that' was 

s--a female unde,i.t,e age Lif..1:2 .;,ears, sot, the 



feloniously .d 

• intercourse with her under ,c r owns tan.ce s not amount in 

raDe in the first The count charging abduc-

tion I rn.tght as' well present t you a 

it is prac tically the same count, except that 

it does not allege the act' was consummated. 

The grand jury charge in. this count tha,t the de--

December 1911, in the County of New York feloniously 

did take, receive harbor, employ and 'use. Mary Polls,cki, 

a female under the age of 18 years to wit, the 

intercourse,12 years, for the purpose of sexual  the 

sa.id. Cesare Brandoli not  being then and there the hus-

said Mary Pollack, against -tile form os: the. 

such cases trade and provided. 

• .they are charg, ( ..11 th crime. It is very easy to make 

only to be 'convicted vi1,:w141. the-

laade'good in the marner prescribed- by 

An indictment in itself is no proof of .uilt It 

not. an I tem of evidence at all. It is a charg 

People c f the • s tate of York against, tiati 

fendari t - You Icr t:,th tL nb,e Pe 04) e 0 



means otganized society,. OA the 

people living within the borders -Of this State, all 

-w1p.o have thei'r own notions of right andvmong and who 

carry out those notions and secure the blessings of-gov--

ernment make laws. They charge that this defendant 

indictment. . This Court is established to try the truth 

of that charge. You must not proceed upon the theory 

that the defend-ant is guilty because he Stands'indicted. 

You must merely use the indictment to let you know what 

the charge is. Now what is the charge which you have 

got to keep in mind? The indictment,. in effec 

that Mary PollaCk is a female under 18 years of age, 

to wit, 12 years of age. s 12 years .of age on 

the 25th of-December; secondly, she is tot the 

wife of this defendant and never was his wife. Arid 

that under those circumstances it is said that the 

defendant felonisously did perpetrate an act of sexua 

intercourse with her. These are simple thia to 

member. The sex, the age, not his wife, an' act 

sexual intercourse. Thisact was not done under cir-

cumstances amounting to rape in the second. dearee* 



excepting-that 

sexual intercourse bu the purpoSe 

criminal; nathely that he did feloniously.takel 
- 

harbor, employ -wad-uses.the said Mary Pollack, 

of age, - not his wife, for the  purpose 

ual intercourse. It is silent :as to the'aCcoMpliShment.:. 

of the purpose. That is the difference betWeen-,a 

dution and rape.. 

You .understa.rld that the defendant is preSumed 

receive' 

e innocent. The defendant is not. brought in here 

required to establish his .innocence. He maY 

the law is that in the absence of testimony sufficient 

:to satisfy you gentlel:len of his guilt beyond a reason.-

acquitted. That is 

kifown as the presumption of his innocence) Which is the 

basic princiiple of cur Criminal :law. The PeoPls bear 

the burden cf 4,oving 'the de;endant's guilt, 'and 

through their lawyer, knov'in as the district att tney 

thcr 1-,reduce evidence before you. The law further 

states ..,ro.of is required-- .i,;2.7cof beyond a. 

reasonable dolbt. L.cre.must be sat.isfa 

to:ycr wh.ic.i cciviy,ac cf guilt beyond a reae9na 



to: you by the 'Courlb. 

the opinion of the Court on the law, bu you must take 

the law from the Court and muat iceep e various.. 

c..aarges in the indictment in mind and then deciae the 

facts for yourself. The facts are proved by Witriesses 

who ara brought here before you. You must pass on 

their credibility which means worthiness of belief. 

what witnesses' have come here who were brthy. of bell 

You are to consider the intelligence of the witneao, 

the opportunity of the witness for knowing the matter 

concerning which he or she testified, and tae mtiv 

that any witness might hosaibly have for stating what 

was not true, and generally noting the dameanpi'of 

the witness on the cross examination and how hiSor h 

established in the case, and in that way determining. 

what witness will "oelieve if you think they ought 

to le believed. TnaJ Lf the testimony of such witnesses 

produces in JOIlf mdnd a firm conviction to a moral 

ainty that the fuLdant is 'guilty the burden 

the People is.met, and that is -what is meant y'Pr6of 

dolf,-t.If after weigng all *Lae 



moral certairitz,r 

guilty then you must 'acquit lam. 

therefore, the state f_ ju'rort 

YO•tir -minds are' 

13.e a.s onable- d.oub t 
b 

mind an hbnes 

-.mind) where after a careful and calm deliberate' et±-

gatiori  eighing of all the evidence in the case h 

is unable to say he is satisfied., that he is thoroughly 

convinced,_ that he is convinced to a moral- certainty, 

as the law says, that the defendant is 'guilty. Mere 

proof of suspicious circumstances, however strong, 

not proof 'beyond a reasonable doubt. 

The Court has said thar in considering qUestions 

of this kind it behooves us to make every effort to' be 

are such that they, inflame merits, minds. Xow, there mut?, 
• 

no passion in the* administration' of the law; there 

must be no prejudice; .must be nothing 'but 

calm, deliberate judgment. The law you' must take from. 

the Court as the Court gives it to you. The statute 

'are very ilain. On the f.cts your juris-diction is 

Rape in tic., second de 

sexual intercourse with a female not 
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not amounting to rape in its33,e first 4egree is guilty 

rape .ui the second degree 

The legislatUre 

in its wisdom, and very properly so in my opinion 

passed this•law.for the protection, of-the -'female• 

The welfare of the;nation, the perpetuity ó± the race-
. 

1

 

depends uponthe .purity of our women and the.. law ,tbrows 

p-rdeCtion arouna them. This law takes from the female 

under 18 the power to give herself to a. man. It is a 

crime under our law for a men, even at the. reqUebt'ofa 

under 18 years.. Of age, to have _interceurse 'With 

The law' says to 'her"You must not4 and; to ie ma 

is 'rape  in the second degree, if. you do"._ MT: what. 

are the elementS there? The mere intercourse,. unlesS. 

wife. of the.defendant, the merperpet. tit 

tration of an' act of; sexual 'intercourse with a. female. 

..not his iife under the age of 18 years, and the law' 

goes further and states w;Iat will be considered sexua 

Section 2111 sa:T, "Any sexual penetration 

. however sli7ht is sufficient to commit the crime". 

Physical ability i presumed in a man above the age of • 

14 3i.ears. If .a boy under 14 is charged the law says 

conviction for rape can be had against one who la-

under the age or 14 ,reare at the time 'of tds..act allege, 

Ufl1Q isrhweical ability to acoomplioa penetration is 



an indeveudent'facv:beyond 

It is for you 

lie re , under this count..you believe •that Mary P 

you believe that she is under 18 

years of age Has that n es tablishe a? Are you 

satisfied,beyond_ a reasonable doubt, that she ic not 

wife of this defendant? He that been established? 

If alI these fa6ts _have been established are you satis-. 

fied, from the° evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that  

• this defendant perpetrated an act of sexual-intercourse 

You saw Mary Pollack 'on the stand. •, You 

heard the answers that she made to questions of the 

answered those questions 

manner of testifying... 

roustYou  decide whether she is worthy of belief. 'Did 

she in testifying here tell the truth or was it because 

he nad some grudge against ,this inan some motre to 

What motive could a girl nave to come here and 

proclaim her shaue unless she was telling, the truth? 

It is for you to say. Consider the motives of the wit-

You may take the character of the witnesses 

into account _and the relations that existed between the 

different partie3.3Tcwl—th1s 'man is not,   

showing these pictures to tnese , girls if you,believ* 

that he did sLow iham to them, 



oved as an indePendent 

:It is .for ou 

ne re tinder this c oun t you believe that Mary Pol-

lack you believe that she is under18 

years of age? Has that been establ 

satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt, that she is not 

the wife of this defendant? Has that been established? 

If all these facts have been established are you atis-

fied, from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt 

this defendant perpetrated an act of sexual intercourse 

with her. You saw Mary Pollack on the stand. You 

heard the answers that she made to `questions of the  

what degree of intelligence 

You know whether she answered those questions'in 

telligently or not. You saw her manner of testifying 

she in.. testifying here tell. thea tru,thAor was it because 

had some grudge against- this man, some motive to 

What motive could a girl have, to come here, and 

proclaim her shante urlless she was telling the truth? 

It is for you to say. Consider the motive's of the wit-

nesses. You may -t-srlre- -the ciia-rau -cf—tae 

'into 'account and. the relations that existed between the 

different parties. 1Tcv, this man is not on trial for 

shorang these pictures to these girls, if you ielieve 

that be  show them to them. -I allarod 'ti picture3 



them, did -show them to Mary Pollack 

a case of this 

kind any acts done between the complainant and. the de-- 

dani prior to the date fixed in the indictment are 

a proper aubjot for your c ons derati on as showing 

relations between the parties. She said, he told her 

about the things represented by these pictures He is 

no t on trial. for any act committed on any of the o ther 

girls Wu t if he behaved tdwards the othe_ girls as they 

have, testified, the presence of this girl, 

it was on 'that theory that I allowed that in-- that may 

be considered by you as showing the relationship exist-

ing be twe en the complainant and the defendant. The de-

fendant is only here on trial on the charge of having 

inte re ours e: wi th Uary Pollack, not with any one_ else . 

'These Other acts aro only allowed to enable you. to' de-

cide mhe the r her tes timony is true or false. It is 

relations existing )tl.t.ween 

plaint and the defendant, 

that a witness's credibility must be 'determined by 

jury. In tenaininc the defendant' credibility 

may consider any crii-Anal 

te a tifiedf\ tit he c _gaga tted 'so dor! * with 

one of. the Rettere..er, girls . }e denød that, aL that 



hoWed thm thbse pictures. He admits •t70-0 P 

of the :pictures and caclaains it and it is for 

pass on that testimony. Any criminal or die-. 

graceful act his . oareer may be admitted on. the qt 

ti oh of his credibility. The 'act that he had thee 

picrures as no proof that he had intercourse with t1 

girl. That must be established, and there is a. rUle 

rape or defilement Upon the testimony of the fémalé 

filed unsupported by. -other evidence," What O'est1 

Mean? 'If you believed MaryPollack' 

was the only witness here,' . this defendant :would have 

If thee'S' 

eider it. You have heard the testimony of t]0. 

girls who say they saw him an the act Of committing this 

act of intecourse. Do you believe ,that or.tot? 

You have heard the testimony of the physician that this 

girl's 13ivate parts had recently been penatrated by: 

that the hymen had- a fresh  

rupture; taat there had been_ a sligh t pens irati 014 

av heard all tne testimon 



roi a reasonable doiabi-, the following propositions: 

it.a.liary Pollack is a female; that she is unde't 18 

years of age. You have heard. the testimony of th 

mother as to her age and. you have seen her. -and you have 

seen the girl on the stand,. You may form your own 

judgment about her age. You have seen her and her 

testimony about- the class she was in in the school and. 

her studies. That she is- not the wife of the defend• -

ant . The defendant says she is no t his wife and she 

said. he was not r husband. If' all these things are 

shown to yOu then does the evidence prove beyond a rea--
. 

sonable doubt that he had an act of' sexual intercourse 

with herb There. is no necessity of proving for  but 

simply an act of intercourse with a female under the 

age of 18 years, not his wife ._ That is rapei the 

second degree. If you are satisfied. beyond a reasona:ble . 

doubt on all those points it is your duty to say so,jby 

a verdict of' guilty of rape in the second. degree If', 

is your duty to deClare the defendant not guilty. 

defined in section 702 

"A person mu° takes receives,'  employs, harbors or 

or causes or ,procures to be taken, received, employ.* 



for the purpose of wexual intercours 

f her ..fathe.r 

legal custody of her person for the purpose of marriage, 

is .guilty of abduction." 

ftP\ Part of that law which concerns us. is that the 

dictment charge that on the 25th of December the defe24d-

ant did feloniously -take, receive, harbor, employ and, 

ise Mary Pollack for the purpose of sexual intercourse." 

The statute sayh that any one Who takes, receive 

' 

re 
ploys, Harbors and uses a female under the age 

years for the purpose of prostitution, or for the pur-

pose of sexual intercourse without being her husband 

is guilty of abduction." 

Now if he had a room in 104th street and he alldwed 

Mary. Pollack to come to that room and. remain there for 

the purpose of having acts of sexual intercourse with' 

her the crime is complete. The question arises 

how you may prove the intent of ltny person' o 

of anr person. That is the opers;t1on of a man's.mind. 

You can prove that Mary Pollack is a female by a doci-,,er 

or by her appearance on the stand. You may prove that 

the defendant is of the male sex. Now if he.lzad ny 

dealings with her the intent which animated him in deal-

in with her is a thing  canno-t-Ve" be-en) at it Ifilacy 

be shówn.by his acts. 'It Ia not ne .Et -y to piweye 

that the man took tae Zirl into Alia ro.ont and said "Come 
6 



sexual intercourse w 

or "Come to me and I shall receive : this girl for the 

Purpose of having sexual intercourse with her 
, 

'rule is that his acts may be, studied br you and. from 

infer his intent.: If the man is sound- in mlnd, 

mentally sound and is not under the Influence' 

of some drug 'or intoxicant so that his judgment, is: inte 

fered with or his reason obscured why it is a::sai'e rule 

. to say that he intended the natural consequencesof 

act. It is for you to -say what a man .wOuId take .a 

into his room for under the c iroims tan cps •disolp se-4 

tuis case. If you are satisfied from the evidence 

bout all those points then you may find the , defendant 

guilty of abduction. YOU c4nnot find him guilty 

of both crimesL e.ithr one or  the other. Therd 10 a 

rule of law :which says "No conviction can be had fOr 
, , •• 

or compulsory marriage . upon the test inany'' of 

abducted or Coppelled, unsupported -by Other 

That is ' the .same rule Which' applies to the . 

If this girl's' testimony .was alone In 

testimony you must acquit. the : 

If you do belie,ve 'her testimony you utist 

testimony is sufficient to convince 

ynd a reasoriable doubt. This ..olues 



•apProved•Of by the Court aid it j a-questi.on for the 

Court to decide. The fact that I am submitting 

case to you does not mean that I am presuming to pass 

upon the weight tobe given to that evidence. 1 simply 

tell you ha4t certain testimony has been produced he/re 

ig to corroborate her story. Whether it does 

or. not is for you_ to decide. !hat weight you will give . 

Uo that evidence is for you to deide. The Court does 

pass upon any: facts. -The amount of corrobtiratiOn• 

discussed in t'Lle case of the People against Page 

274 where the Court said.,"The rule in 

cases is that all zne, corroborating evidence, 

WI:-etne r Cons i 

be of sucn charac te r and quality as tends to ptoye 

guilt of the accused by connecting him -vitt? the' 

The cinroboration must extA:ad to every material .fact 

essential to constitute the crime."'  

1To.\d that is it faust be shown• that all the elements„, 

as I have told you 1)efore exist. Itisnot incumbent 

the People to have en ougn evidence to cOnvic 

d.e±'endant of tie crime without taking into consider,a,.tibn 

tle zfrits story.. It 

at i.7.ru te t al 7.;aicuidbe suffiCierlt. The '!)urden. 



guilt beyond a, reasonable doubt. 

must extend to every material element 

age of the girl, the sax of the girl, the fact that she % 

is not his wife, and the act of sexual intercourse in 

the charge of rape in the second degree and the age 

the sex of the girl, her relations with him whether.mar-

ried or not, not hi :3 wife, and the purpose for which 

took her, if he did take her or receive her into hds 

room' in the* abduction charge. 

I have tried, gentlemen, to make this matt 

to you' as I could so far as the law is concernecL.. You 

must not tnink that the Court has expressed any ()Pinion 

one way or tile other.. The Court has no opinion and' 

besides that it .is your duty to ignore any opinion ex-

pressed. eitLer side unless they are deduc-

tions drawn from the evidence and are deductions which 

coincide Jour odn views ont,ie evidenoe. You 

know what has been testif„ed to. If you have any doubt 

ere is any diut, as to ;; -t the testimony was each 

rcr should be guided by nds,own reccAlection of it 

le yo' .1,11,1 decide to ave It read. Yourautyr.  
J, 

to  
, . 

calm and car:Jful in con3ideration-0f 1.144 

:eaci. an Aonest•v 



 what will'haPpen does yet

society .if this defendant should be acquitted. 

thing that concerns you is to do your duty 

weigh the testimony calmly, 'booiy, keeping the 

mind a6 given to you by the  Gout and keeping in zxurid 

the allegations of the indictment'. If you 

of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable 

• doubt of rape in the second degree s<i) so. If you hays 
• reaSonable 

aA doubt -on any element in that crime you must_ give the 

defendant the benefit of that doubt. If you are not 

satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of his guilt of 

rape in the second degree take up the charge of abduc-
_ 

. flan, taking for the purpose of sexual intercourse. 

If you are .conyinced of his guilt of that crime beyond 

a-reasonable doubt say_so by a verdict. of, 

MB. MILLER: No, sir. 

11R. - STRYTIM I think not., your Hon-or,

• ok place : ) 

DIE COURT': Gun tleff.en of the jury, have y o u , agreed 

up "er a verdict? 

201iElf-A1T 

fa COURT,: 



-THE PC halAN: 1 think 

THE COMT: Do you to go to lunch now9 

THOOREMANt Some jUrymen_are not-very well 

-THErThOURT: Any objection, to having the jury 

lunch? 

MR.EL ER: No 

:THE COURT:- Of cottrse, .gentlemen of the  jury, you 

understand that when you go_ out_ you must not disaust 

case with anybody or among yourselves. All discussion 

must cease and you rnuat not come to any decision or con- • 

;Acts until you retire and discuss the 

Vie jury return to court at 5.40 p. m. and. state 

that they find the defendant minty of rape- in  the seC-

THE COUR'T: I will remand the defendant .for one 

MILLER: I reserve all my motions until the day 
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